# **GETTING STARTED WITH MOSAIC**

7<sup>th</sup> edition - June 2009

# Copyright © 2001-2009 Teco a.s.

#### Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	10
1.1 Program supply	10
1.2 Programming the PLC TECOMAT, TECOREG, IEC 61131-3	10
2. CREATING A NEW PROJECT	12
2.1 Running the Mosaic program	12
2.2 Dialog for opening project groups	13
3. BASIC DESCRIPTION OF THE MOSAIC ENVIRONMENT	18
3.1 Mosaic environment work panels	18
3.2 Docking windows	19
3.3 Numbering docked windows	19
3.4 Mosaic environment main menu	20
3.4.1 Description of icons in main menu	20
3.4.2 Information about PLC state in main menu toolbar	21
3.4.3 Signalizing the selected communication type between PC and PLC	21
4. OVERVIEW OF MOSAIC TOOLS	22
5. PROJECT MANAGER	26
5.1 Setting the address and type of connection to the PLC	27
5.2 Common settings	28
5.3 HW configurator	29
5.3.1 PLC series selecting	29
5.3.2 HW configuration	30
5.3.2.1 Setting CHx communication channels on central unit	30
5.3.2.2 Setting the parameters of peripheral modules	31
5.3.3 PLC network- logic connection	32

5.4 SW configurator	34
5.4.1 Application program and library information window	34
5.4.2 Window for setting PLC central units	35
5.4.3 Compiler settings window	36
5.5 Environment configurator	37
5.5.1 PLC control window	37
5.5.2 Other environment configuration windows	38
5.6 Documentation windows	38
6. SETTING INPUTS AND OUTPUTS	39
6.1 Alias – naming input and output signals	40
6.2 Map of I/O occupation and I/O absolute addresses	41
7. IEC MANAGER	43
7.1 Local menu in IEC manager window	43
7.2 POU rules	44
7.3 Globally available variables	47
7.4 Organization of tasks and items – program configuration	47
7.5 Libraries	48
8. TEXT EDITORS	50
8. TEXT EDITORS	<b>50</b>
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> </ul>	<b>50</b> 50 51
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> </ul>	<b>50</b> 50 51 52
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li> <li>8.1.3.1 IEC assistant (hotkey Ctrl+J)</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li> <li>8.1.3.1 IEC assistant (hotkey Ctrl+J)</li> <li>8.1.3.2 Definition of a IEC variable (hotkey Ctrl+D)</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li> <li>8.1.3.1 IEC assistant (hotkey Ctrl+J)</li> <li>8.1.3.2 Definition of a IEC variable (hotkey Ctrl+D)</li> <li>8.1.3.3 Inserting a IEC variable into the text (hotkey Shift+Ctrl+V).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li> <li>8.1.3.1 IEC assistant (hotkey Ctrl+J)</li> <li>8.1.3.2 Definition of a IEC variable (hotkey Ctrl+D)</li> <li>8.1.3.3 Inserting a IEC variable into the text (hotkey Shift+Ctrl+V)</li> <li>8.1.3.4 IEC code support (hotkey Ctrl+Space).</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li> <li>8.1.3.1 IEC assistant (hotkey Ctrl+J)</li> <li>8.1.3.2 Definition of a IEC variable (hotkey Ctrl+D)</li> <li>8.1.3.3 Inserting a IEC variable into the text (hotkey Shift+Ctrl+V).</li> <li>8.1.3.4 IEC code support (hotkey Ctrl+Space).</li> <li>8.2 Program in instruction list language.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS.</li> <li>8.1 Structured text program.</li> <li>8.1.1 ST language program example.</li> <li>8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window.</li> <li>8.1.3 Aids making programming easier</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>8. TEXT EDITORS</li></ul>	

9.1.3 Inserting or editing a box in LD	63
9.1.4 Inserting and editing operands at inputs/outputs in parameter boxes	65
9.1.5 Local menu in LD editor desktop	66
9.1.6 Hotkeys in LD editor area	66
9.2 FBD editor (Function Block Diagram)	67
9.2.1 FBD editor controls	68
9.2.2 Operand editing	70
9.2.3 Inserting or editing a box in FBD	70
9.2.4 Local menu within FBD editor desktop	72
9.2.5 Hotkeys in FBD editor area	73
9.3 SFC editor (in preparation) (Sequential Function Chart)	73
9.4 Editor CFC (in preparation) (Continuous Flow Chart)	73
10. OTHER TOOLS FOR AUTOMATIC PROGRAM CODE GENERATING	74
10.1 PIDMaker	74
10.2 PanelMaker	74
11. TOOLS FOR MANAGING PROJECTS	76
11.1 Project groups	76
11.2 Files in a project	77
11.3 Open files	77
12. PROGRAM COMPILATION	79
12.1 Compilation of program in project	79
12.2 ON-LINE programming	80
12.3 Generating a library from a project	80
12.4 Library dependency	81
13. PROGRAM DEBUGGING	83
13.1 POU inspector in ST language	
13.2 POU inspector in II Janguage	84
13.3 POU INSPECIOLIN LU JANQUAGE	•••••
13.3 POU inspector in ED language	85
13.4 POU inspector in FBD language 13.5 Debugging in mnemocode language	85 
13.3 POU inspector in ED language 13.4 POU inspector in FBD language 13.5 Debugging in mnemocode language	85 85
<ul> <li>13.3 POU inspector in ED language</li> <li>13.4 POU inspector in FBD language</li> <li>13.5 Debugging in mnemocode language</li> <li>14. OTHER TOOLS FOR DEBUGGING AND SIMULATING</li> </ul>	85 85 <b>86</b>
<ul> <li>13.3 POU inspector in ED language</li></ul>	85 85 86
<ul> <li>13.3 POU inspector in ED language</li></ul>	85 85 86 86 86

14.4 Panel (semi graphics)	88
14.5 Map of user registers	88
14.6 Windows of the bottom docking panel	
14.6.1 Message 1 and Message 2 windows	89
14.6.2 Symbols window	89
14.6.3 List of breakpoints window	90
14.6.4 Data window	90
14.7 Accumulator and memory windows	91
Accumulator window	91
Memory 1 and Memory 2 panels	92
15. WORKING WITH PROJECTS AND PROJECT GROUPS	93
15.1 Creating a new project group	93
15.2 Project group copying	93
15.3 Adding a new project	93
15.4 Adding another project	94
15.5 Project copying	94
16. ARCHIVING	95
16.1 Archiving project groups	95
16.2 Archiving data from PLC	95
16.2.1 Archiving data from PLC DataBoxes	
16.2.2 Archiving registers from PLC notebook memories	95
17. Documentation printing	96
18. APPENDIXES	97
18.1 Hotkeys	97

#### Contents

## LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.Running the Mosaic development environment13
Fig. 2.Dialog window – Selecting a project group13
Fig. 1.Dialog window – Creating a project group14
Fig. 2.Dialog window – New project14
Fig. 3.Dialog window – Basic selection of control system15
Fig. 4.Dialog window – Declaration of POU15
Fig. 5.Dialog window – Definition of program instance16
Fig. 6.Example of empty program in the ST language17
Fig. 7.Example of empty program in the LD language17
Fig. 8.Mosaic panel layout18
Fig. 9.Docked local menu and floating window19
Fig. 10.Main menu of Mosaic and main toolbar with icons
Fig. 11.Examples of PLC state signalization21
Fig. 12.Location of Project Manager icon in basic Mosaic window
Fig. 13.Project manager window26
Fig. 14.Setting the connection to the PLC27
Fig. 15.Setting the serial channel parameters27
Fig. 16.Setting the USB connection parameters27
Fig. 17.Simulated PLC28
Fig. 18.Program module manager28
Fig. 19.Folder settings
Fig. 20.PLC series selection29

Fig. 21.Example of HW PLC Foxtrot configuration
Fig. 22.Example of HW PLC TC700 configuration
Fig. 23.Setting the universal channel mode to an Ethernet interface on CP-700431
Fig. 24.Example of peripheral module settings
Fig. 25.Window for configuring the logic connection of a PLC and its environment 33
Fig. 26.Window with settings of I/O modules connected via Profibus DP protocol33
Fig. 27.Window with settings of I/O modules connected via CAN protocol
Fig. 28.Window for setting SW information
Fig. 29.Window for setting PLC central units35
Fig. 30.Compiler settings window
Fig. 31.PLC control window37
Fig. 32.I/O setting tool
Fig. 33.I/O occupation map - inputs42
Fig. 34.I/O occupation map - outputs42
Fig. 35.Example of local menu in the IEC manager44
Fig. 36.Example of display of IEC manager item features44
Fig. 37.Example of tree display in POU tab in the IEC manager45
Fig. 38.Tab for showing types in the IEC manager45
Fig. 39.Type declaration in the IEC manager46
Fig. 40.Structure type declaration in IEC manager46
Fig. 41.Tab of global variable display in the IEC manager47
Fig. 42.Tab of task and instance configuration in the IEC manager
Fig. 43.Library tab in IEC manager48

Fig. 44.Question regarding adding the file into the project5	50
Fig. 45.Empty program in the ST language5	51
Fig. 46.Local menu in text editor5	53
Fig. 47.Examples of IEC assistant look for the ST language5	54
Fig. 48.Example of variable definition5	54
Fig. 49.Example of variable insert5	56
Fig. 50.Example of an inserted function block in ST5	56
Fig. 51.Example of function block insert in ST5	57
Fig. 52.Example of inserting an unassigned parameter of a function block in ST5	57
Fig. 53.Request to include file into project5	58
Fig. 54.Example of writing a function block in IL5	58
Fig. 55.Example of Txt editor5	59
Fig. 56.Example of recorded program in a mnemonic code language5	59
Fig. 57.Controls layout in LD editor6	51
Fig. 58.Example of working area in LD editor during editing work6	52
Fig. 59.Example of dialog window for editing operands6	3
Fig. 60.Example of inserting a box with a function block6	<b>34</b>
Fig. 61.Example of editing a box with a function6	<b>34</b>
Fig. 62.Example of editing operands upon box input6	<b>5</b> 5
Fig. 63.Local menu in LD editor area6	6
Fig. 64.Controls layout in FBD editor6	38
Fig. 65.Example of working area in FBD editor during editing work6	<b>39</b>
Fig. 66.Example of a dialog window for editing operands in FBD7	70

Fig. 67.Example of inserting a box with a function block71
Fig. 68.Example of editing a box with a function block71
Fig. 69.Local menu in FBD editor area72
Fig. 70.Example of PIDMaker display74
Fig. 71.Example of PanelMaker display75
Fig. 72.Example of project group display77
Fig. 73.Example of local menu display of files in a project (3.)
Fig. 74.Program compilation79
Fig. 75.Sending program code into PLC80
Fig. 76.Dialog window of online changes before program code is sent to PLC80
Fig. 77.Dialog window for setting the name of an own library
Fig. 78.Creating an own library81
Fig. 79.Report about creating own library81
Fig. 80.Switching on dependency of own library on a different library82
Fig. 81.Program debugging in ST language83
Fig. 82.Program debugging in IL language84
Fig. 83.Program debugging in LD language84
Fig. 84.Program debugging in FBD language85
Fig. 85.Program debugging in mnemocode language85
Fig. 86.Example of WebMaker display86
Fig. 87.Example of graph dependent on time87
Fig. 88.Display example of simulator panel ID-1487
Fig. 89.Example of variables display in a so called panel

Fig. 90.Map of user registers	.89
Fig. 91.List of used breakpoints	.90
Fig. 92.Conditions for laying breakpoints	.90
Fig. 93.Data window	.91
Fig. 94.Accumulators, Memory 1 and Memory 2 windows	.92
Fig. 95.Create new project group	.93
Fig. 96.Copy project	.94
Fig. 97.Archiving menu	.95

# 1. INTRODUCTION

The Mosaic development environment is used to create and fine debug programs intended for TECOMAT<sup>®</sup> and TECOREG<sup>®</sup> PLCs (Programmable Logic Controller) produced by Teco a.s. Kolín. The Mosaic program has been offered since 2000. The environment is developed according to the international IEC EN-61131-3 standard which defines the structure of programs and programming languages for PLCs.

Note:

Screen previews are used in the text of this document where the interesting parts are highlighted and numbered. Corresponding notes are mentioned in the text under the picture.

# 1.1 **Program supply**

The Mosaic program is supplied as an "all in one" solution which means that the installation contains all tools that are currently available.

Should a **HW key not be available** after the installation, **Mosaic will be working in its Light version** which is completely sufficient for training, testing and full simulation. Besides this it also enables to program the smallest PLC from the PLC TECOMAT<sup>®</sup> family without any limitations. All described tools are fully functional in the Light version. A HW key is necessary for working with the larger PLC types and which will enable the declaration of a larger number of I/O modules.

Mosaic can be installed on a random number of computers. The new Mosaic versions, introduced usually several times a year, contain additional functions or the possibility to program new PLC types produced by Teco a.s. Care is taken to ensure reverse compatibility, i.e. all programs writing in the older Mosaic version can be used in the newer versions.

Upgrades (including new functions and tools) are available for free. The latest Mosaic version can be downloaded from "www.tecomat.com".

Currently the program is available in Czech, English, Russian and German. The language can be whenever changed from the menu Tools | *Language choice*. This means that only installation is needed for all the available language localizations. Mosaic runs under OS Windows 2000 or Windows XP.

# 1.2 Programming the PLC TECOMAT, TECOREG, IEC 61131-3

Mosaic enables programming of all PLCs supplied by Teco. Older TECOMAT<sup>®</sup> PLCs types: NS950, TC400, TC500, TC600 and TECOREG<sup>®</sup> types TR050, TR200, TR300 are programmed in syntax with the native mnemonic code used already by xPRO in MS-DOS. The new generation of TC700, TC650 and Foxtrot<sup>®</sup> systems usually are programmed according to the IEC EN 61131-3 standard in IL and ST text languages and graphic languages LD and FBD.

A program created in a language according to the IEC 61131-3 standard is created by elements called **POUs**, *Program Organization Unit*. Functions and functional blocks are these units and the highest unit is the program.

As mentioned earlier it is possible to program in graphic and text languages. Programming in graphic languages is simple and intuitive. Contacts or blocks are selected from a tool bar in the editor window and placed onto the desktop. The environment automatically offers a dialog box for entering a variable or selecting a POU when a contact of block is inserted. Variables and POUs can be in-advanced defined using an **IEC manager** or when used for the first time.

A similar automatization is offered in Mosaic and text languages. In the structured text language ST an **IEC assistant** can be used. The assistant offers to finish uncompleted construction, enables entering available variables, enables their defining, etc. Everything is accessible via hot-keys or via the right mouse click. When creating a program it is possible **to combine parts of languages.** However after choosing a certain language for a POU, this language cannot be changed. A following POU can have a different language. This enables to divide the program and e.g. create a part of the control logic in a LD language and a part with mathematical calculations and complicated expressions in a ST language.

The declaration part of the program is the same for all languages. All data types are supported which are defined in the above mentioned standard including data types for working with time, dates or strings. The declaration of own data types including structures and fields is supported as well as the declaration of all POU types.

The Mosaic environment has an integrated possibility to use block libraries and create own POU libraries.

# 2. CREATING A NEW PROJECT

A project in MOSAIC is understood to be a program for one PLC including relevant files. Programs for control systems contain separate files. Some are created by the programmer some automatically as a result of a special tool. Before beginning work in Mosaic we recommend to read the basic terminology stated in the manual: *TXV 003 21 Programming TECOMAT*<sup>®</sup> *PLCs according to IEC 61 131.* 

Basic terminology is:

- data types,
- variables,
- configurations,
- sources and tasks,
- POUs (functions, function blocks, programs),
- programming languages (IL, ST, LD, FBD)

**Each PLC project has to be part of a group of projects in the Mosaic environment**. A group of projects contains at least one or more projects which are part of the entire control system network. PLC projects in a group may have communication links between each other and so create a common unit. Each project is created by a separate folder which contains all source and working files and information needed for programming a control system.

# 2.1 Running the Mosaic program

The initial dialog allows opening existing (already created) project groups. The existing project groups are represented by files with extension ".mpr"(**M**osaic **Pr**ojects). For new project group creation, press Cancel button and choose Project | New project group from menu. Separate Mosaic windows will then appear.



After



## *Fig. 1. Running the Mosaic development environment*

After all windows open a dialog for opening a project group will appear. A new group can be created or an already existing one can be opened.

# 2.2 Dialog for opening project groups

First a dialog window will open to select a project group where all the projects will be saved. Then further windows are automatically opened which will help you create a new project.

We can choose an already existing project group or we can create a new project group as described below.

🛟 Select project group	×
Project groups in directory:	My Computer W2K (C:) Documents and Settings INSTALL MosaicApp MosaicArchive MPEG Program Files IEMP DRIVERS UTILS WINNT DATA (D:)
OK Cancel New	<u>R</u> efresh <u>H</u> ome

# Fig. 2. Dialog window – Selecting a project group

1. Using the left mouse button select <u>New...</u>

The dialog window "Create a new project group" is opened.

🛟 Create new project group		×
Project groups in directory:	My Computer W2K (C:) Documents and Settings INSTALL MosaicApp MosaicArchive MPEG Program Files DRIVERS UTILS WINNT DATA (D:)	
Cancel	<u>R</u> efresh <u>H</u> ome	

#### *Fig. 1. Dialog window – Creating a project group*

- 1. enter the name of the new project group
- 2. press enter or click on OK.

We are then prompted to save and name the new project, i.e. the new PLC program. The dialog window "New project" is opened.

٢	New project			? ×
	Look in: 🔂 S	)kupinaPLC	- 🖻 🖆 🎟	
(			<u>1.</u>	-2
l	File Name:	PLC_loader	Оре	n
	File of type:	Projekty Mosaic (*.plc)	Cano	el /

#### Fig. 2. Dialog window – New project

1. enter the project's new name or leave the default name PLC1 (to n).

2. confirm clicking on "Open".

The dialog window "Basic selection of control system" is opened. It will define the type of PLC from the Teco production on which the program will be running on. Older types (NS950, TC400, TC500, TC600), which do not support programming according to the IEC standard can be programmed by the original mnemonic code in MOSAIC.

🐣 Mosaic - C:\MosaicApp\Ski	upinaPLC.mpr: PLC_loader
😼 File Edit Search View	Project Program PLC Debug Tools Help
] 🗳 🔛   🖉 🗳   🗿 💕	🗳 🗳 📕   💁   🕥 🔍   🖉 - 🖉 🖉 - ] 📕 🔲 🗖 🖬 🖬 🖉   🕅 🧄
<b>d</b> (3)	
양 - 💣 🕯 🐹 🗡	
SkupinaPLC	
PLC loader	Pacie colortion of control system
	1. Select type of PLC series 2.
	modular system     TC700
	C compact sustem
	PLC series where not supported IEC 61131-3
	3-
	V OK X Cancel 7 Help

Fig. 3. Dialog window – Basic selection of control system

- 1. select the basic groups of the control system
- 2. select the type of control system
- 3. confirm by clicking on "OK".

The dialog window "Declaration of POU". Here you can name and briefly describe it and choose the type of language that will be used for its writing.

Program organisation unit declaration	X
If you don't want to use IEC 61131-3 programmin	g, press Cancel.
Program	
Program name prgMain  Declare program instance	1. POU language ⊙ ST ○ IL ○ LD ○ FDD
Comment	
Create in dedicated file	OK Cancel

#### Fig. 4. Dialog window – Declaration of POU

- 1. leave or change the program name.
- 2. choose one of the programming languages according to IEC 61131-3:
  - IL Instruction List instruction list language
  - ST Structured Text structured text language
  - LD Ladder Diagram ladder diagram language
  - FBD Function Block Diagram function block diagram language
- 3. confirm by clicking on "OK".

Note: If you do not want to program according to IEC 61131-3, press "Cancel".

Then it is possible to write in the native mnemonic Tecomat code. Both possibilities can be combined.

The dialog window "*Definition of program instance*" is opened. Because the POU is an object which can be run even several times, i.e. in several instances, it is necessary to distinguish them by name. If you are just beginning and you do not wish to run the POU several times just confirm the default settings.

Program instance definition			×
Program instance name	1		
Main		🔲 Whole program is remanent	
Program	Task		
prgMain 💌	FreeWheeling		-
Parameters			
			<b>A</b>
T		2.	
		🗸 ОК 🗙 Са	ncel

#### *Fig. 5. Dialog window* – Definition of program instance

1. leave or change the name of the program instance.

2. confirm by clicking on "OK".

The creating of a new project with an empty program is now finished. The basic desktop layout is now shown.

2. Creating a new project



#### *Fig. 6. Example of empty program in the ST language*

🛟 Mosaic - C:\TecoApp\Sku	pinaPLC.mpr: PLC_loader1	_ 8 ×
😼 File Edit Search View	Project Program PLC Debug Tools Help 🛛 0:Halt 🛛 94 ms 👯 🖶	
] 🚅 📰   🗊 🖆   🎒 🖆	*   🚅 🕼   💭   🔍   🖉   🖪 🔲 🗖 🖬 🖬 🖬 🖉 🗮 📾 📾 🐿	
<b>1</b>   <b>4</b>   <b>6</b>   <b>4</b>   <b>6</b>   <b>6</b>	1: prgMain.LD 2: PLC_loader1.mcf	
🐮 🕞 🕜 💣 🕩	9 ⊻   k ++ ++ () () (0 (0 ⊕ → (○ ☎ 號 ¥   鴄 總   つ ⊄   ≒ ≒   ⑧ 🔂 ⊟ ≛ ✑ Ⴊ	
🛨 💀 Programs	Schema comment	<b>A</b>
Function Blocks	0001 Network comment	
•••• • Functions	NEW FIL CONTRACTO	
		-
	A.	
	Messages 1 Messages 2 Symbols Breakpoint list Watch	
1 1 i ST •		Þ

Fig. 7. Example of empty program in the LD language

# 3. BASIC DESCRIPTION OF THE MOSAIC ENVIRONMENT

## 3.1 Mosaic environment work panels

We will now describe the main window of the Mosaic programming language and its basic layout.



#### Fig. 8. Mosaic panel layout

- 1. In the upper part of the main window you can find the main menu, Mosaic text menu and under it the main toolbar with icons. The whole Mosaic window is divided into main and docking panels (see chapter 3.2 Window docking)
- 2. The main docking panel is situated in the middle part, where editor windows are usually opened. Tabs with the names of open files are situated at the top of the window.
- 3. A further docking panel is situated on the left of the main window. Supporting organizing tools are usually placed here. E.g.:
  - Project group window,
  - Project files window,
  - List of open files window,
  - IEC manager window.
- 4. The bottom docking panel is situated at the bottom of the main window and information tools are usually opened here. E.g.:
  - Messages1 window,
  - Messages2 window,

- Breakpoints list window
- Data window.
- 5. The right docking panel is situated in the right part of the main window and is usually used to open preview tools for PLC memories and variables. E.g.:
  - Accumulator window,
  - Memory 1 window,
  - Memory 2 window.
- 6. An information line is situated in the lowest line. Information texts are shown there and information from the active editor as number of line: column and editor working mode are shown on the right side.

The size of the docking panels can be changed by dragging their frame and adjusting the size.

7. A group of control icons is situated in the main toolbar for easy changes in the desktop layout. Leaving the cursor above an icon will trigger a help bubble with the description of the icon.

# 3.2 Docking windows

Tool and editor windows can be situated into any panel by docking the window or they can be left in a floating window outside of the panel.

To use the docking function, you have to select it first. Right click on the window tab and a local menu (1.) will appear, where it is possible to allow docking or possibly select the feature "Always on top" for the case that the window will be left floating. This feature disables other windows to cover the floating window. The local menu of the floating menu can be opened by right clicking on its tab.



## Fig. 9.Docked local menu and floating window

If docking is allowed then a window can be captured by a left mouse click on its tab. By moving the cursor the outline of the window and when this outline merges into the outline of another panel then by releasing the left mouse click the panel will dock (lock) itself into the chosen panel. If the outline does not merge with any panel then after releasing the left mouse click the window will appear as floating. It is recommended to unselect the feature "Docking allowed" after this operation.

# 3.3 Numbering docked windows

It is possible to assign numbers from 1 to 9 to the windows. Then it is easy to switch between windows by using Alt+ number of window you wish to switch to.

#### Mosaic environment main menu 3.4

<b>₩</b>	osaic	: - C:\`	ГесоАрр	\Skup	inaPLC.n	npr: PLC_	loade	er1			1.					2.	
6	File	Edit	Search	View	Project	Program	PLC	Debug	Tools	Help		)(	0:Halt		93 ms	· 🛞 🖶	) 3.
	; 🔒	Ø	<b>É</b> (	) ď	🗳 🕻	रे 🖪 🗍		۵ (	à	E				ĪO -	幽 🗟	🔜 🍳	*

#### Fig. 10. Main menu of Mosaic and main toolbar with icons

The Mosaic environment main menu contains a popup menu (1.) PLC information line (2.), followed by a toolbar (3.) and a project manager icon in the upper left corner (4.).

#### 3.4.1 Description of icons in main menu

- Project manager (Ctrl+Alt+F11)
- Open file to editor (Ctrl+O)
- Save the current file from editor (Ctrl+S)
- Save all files **F**
- <del>60</del> Open group of projects (Ctrl+F11)
- **B** List of projects in group (Shift+Ctrl+F12)
- Add a new project Ē
- Add a new file to project Ē,
- Add existing file to project ¢.
- Remove a file from project I٦.
- **6**1 Compile project (F9)
- Starting execution of the program in the PLC Program run (Ctrl+F9)  $\odot$
- Stop execution of the program in the PLC Program Halt (Ctrl+ F2) ۲
- 8 Switches editor main panel from editing to Enlarge the main panel and back (F5)

Debug tool

- Display / Hide left panel
- Display / Hide bottom panel
- Display / Hide right panel
- 💾 Left panel Increase
- Left panel decrease Right panel - decrease
- Right panel Increase Map of user registers
- 10 Setting of inputs/outputs (alias, data I/O fixation)
- PIDMaker tool

E

- Grafic PanelMaker tool 2
- PanelMaker tool
- Panel simulator
- **9** WebMaker tool
- GraphMaker tool

#### 3.4.2 Information about PLC state in main menu toolbar

0:Run 47 ms	PLC is running, PLC outputs unblocked, PLC program is the same as the opened project
0^Halt 15 ms	PLC is not running, PLC program is the same as the opened project, PLC outputs blocked
0:Run 47 ms	PLC is running, PLC outputs unblocked, PLC program is not the same as the opened project
0^Halt 16 ms	PLC is not running, PLC program is not the same as the opened project
NoComm	Communication with PLC or simulator switched off
Connecting	Connecting
Com Fail	PLC communication error
Fig. 11. Exa	mples of PLC state signalization

Description of PLC state information:

- Number **0** PLC address number
- Separator : PLC outputs unblocked
- Separator **^** PLC outputs blocked
- Run PLC is running, program is executed in cycles
- Halt PLC is not running, program is not executed
- 47 ms communication period of Mosiac with PLC (this is not the PLC cycle time)

State field background colour:

- green means PLC and Mosaic without errors
- grey means PLC and Mosaic with errors
- red means communication error
- dark grey means communication switched off
- pink means connection is being prepared

A left mouse click on the PLC state indication field will open a menu:

Communication Off	Alt+F2			
🕑 Run	Ctrl+F9		Communication On	Alt+F2
🖲 Halt	Ctrl+F2		🛞 Run	Ctrl+F9
🛞 Turn 'Online changes' OFI	F		Halt	Ctrl+F2
PLC errors			PLC errors	
Pause between communic	ations	or	Pause between commun	ications

Commands Run and Halt will cause a switch from one mode to the other

8 Online changes in the program are described in the TXV 003 42 documentation.

A pause between communication is an option intended to decrease the load on the computer.

#### 3.4.3 Signalizing the selected communication type between PC and PLC



- Simulator (PLC simulator built-in the Mosiac program)
- Ethernet network (local network, internet ...)

USB cable (only local connection)

COM serial channel (RS-232, RS485, RS422, modem...)

# 4. OVERVIEW OF MOSAIC TOOLS

#### Tools for automatic code generating of parts of a program

All source codes of the user program may be created directly in a text form. For minimizing mistakes and to make work easier the Mosaic development program is equipped with tools which make some tasks easier and automatically generate the final source text.

Some of these tools work in both directions, i.e. it is possible to program in the text form but also in with the graphic tools as necessary. The IEC manager enables this. Other tools work only one-way and generate an automatic source text. The resulting files are marked with the icon some in the list of files for compilation and they cannot be edited in the text form and are read only types and are refreshed in accordance to tool settings.

- Project manager (Ctrl-Alt-F11) is used for defining PLC types, their layout and settings of individual PLC modules. Further it is used for setting general functions of SW, communication drivers, interconnection between PLCs and also operator text panels which are included into this group of projects. It can be opened by clicking on the icon or from the menu Project and it is from default opened into a floating window in the upper part of the screen. It automatically generates parts of the program code with information about the system configuration saved in \*.hwc, \*.hwn, HWConfig.st and others.
- Setting inputs/outputs (aliases, data and I/O fixation) The window displays input and output data and enables assigning names (aliases) to input and output signals, it also enables to fixate input and output values to random states during debugging. Further on it also displays the absolute input and output address after compilation. It enables assigning inputs and outputs a fixed absolute address. It can be opened by clicking on its icon and is by default opened in a floating window.
- IEC manager is used for organizing and editing items in the user program in accordance with IEC 61 131-3. The IEC manager is opened automatically and is by default docked in the left panel. It is divided into several tabs:
  - POU Program Organization Unit
  - Types variable types
  - Global variables globally available variables
  - Configuration organization of tasks and instances in program
  - *Libraries* overview of included libraries and their contents

#### Text editor of user program

- **ST text editor** is used for the structured text language. The editor ensures the colour highlighting according to language and tool syntax for editing. It is by default opened docked in the main panel for all \*.st files.
- *IL text editor* is used for the Instruction list language. The editor ensures the colour highlighting according to language syntax. It is by default opened docked in the main panel for all \*.IL files.
- *Txt text editor* is used for editing general text files without highlighting. It is by default opened docked in the main panel for all \*.txt files.
- *Xpro text editor* is used for the text language of the native mnemonic TECOMAT code. The editor ensures the colour highlighting according to language syntax. It is by

default opened docked in the main panel for all \*.mos, \*.mas, \*.950, etc. files

#### Graphic editors for user programs

- *Editor LD* is used for the graphic ladder diagram with relay contacts. By default docked in the main panel and with the suffix \*.LD.
- *Editor FBD* is used for the graphic language of function blocks. By default docked in the main panel and with the suffix \*.FBD.
- *Editor SFC* (in preparation) used for creating transfer diagrams. By default docked in the main panel and with the suffix \*.SFC.
- *Editor CFC* (in preparation) used for drawing floating diagrams. By default docked in the main panel and with the suffix \*.CFC.
  - IL Instruction List instruction list language
  - ST Structured Text structured text language
  - LD Ladder Diagram ladder diagram language

FBD - Function Block Diagram - function block diagram language

#### Other tools for automatic generating of parts of codes of programs

- PIDMaker is a visual attachment of the PID and PIDMA instruction of the PLC. It is used for easily implementing, debugging and correct regulation of algorithms. It can be opened by clicking on its icon and is by default docked into the left panel. Automatically generates parts of program codes with PID regulators (see TXV 003 26 documentation).
- PanelMaker is used for defining the content text operator panels. It can be opened by clicking on its icon and is by default docked into the main panel. It automatically generates parts of program codes for working with HMI text panels. This function is only available if panel ID-xx is added to configuration in Project Manager | HW. Panel ID-xx can be connected to a communication channel in PLC network or added in HW configuration.
- GraphicPanelMaker is used for defining the content graphic operator panels. It can be opened by clicking on its icon and is by default docked into the main panel. It automatically generates parts of program codes for working with HMI graphic panels. This function is only available if HMI graphic panel ID-xx is added to configuration in Project Manager | HW.

Panel ID-xx can be added in HW configuration.

#### Tools for project management

- Project groups shows all project group names in the current folder and names of the contained projects. It enables simple switching between projects. It is opened automatically and by default docked in the left panel.
- Project files are used as an overview of project files that are included in the compilation and enable to change their order for the compilation. It is possible to manually shift the files but also add or delete the files in a project. Files are usually added into a project automatically by other tools like the IEC manager. It is opened automatically and by default docked in the left panel.
- Opened files show a list of opened files and paths to their location and a list of floating windows are located in the bottom half. It is opened automatically and by default

docked in the left panel.

#### Tools for debugging and simulations

**POU** Inspector is used for a basic view on the program when the PLC is in the RUN mode. It is really an editor window in a special mode. The source program is animated by the values of the current data so that the programmer can monitor the correctness of the written functions. It is opened directly in the active window instead of an editor.

WebMaker is used for creating XML pages for web servers in central units and basic modules which support such function. It can be used to show and set variables directly in MOSAIC. It can also be used as a simple visualization tool while debugging algorithms during simulations in MOSAIC. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is docked in the main panel.

GraphMaker is used for the graphic display of up to 16 PLC variables in the form of a time graph. It has two modes:

- as a memory oscilloscope
- as a logic and signal analyzer

with a maximum resolution per one cycle run of the PLC program. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is docked in the main panel (see document TXV 003 27).

- Text panel simulator (HMI) is used for the testing of the program operators of the operator panel without HW attached. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is opened in a floating window. It is recommended to set the window to "Always on top" by a right-click on the top bar of the window. It is possible to configure the tool by right-click in the window's area.
  - **Panel tool** is used for semi-graphic displaying and setting program variables. It works as a simple visualization and is suitable for fine debugging algorithms in simulations. It can be opened from File/New/New panel. It is opened by default docked in the main panel on files with \*.PAM suffixes. The tool can be found in the Mosaic environment due to compatibility issues with older systems. The above mentioned WebMaker is available for new applications offering graphics and higher comfort.
- User register maps shows the memory occupied with user %R user registers in the PLC and also enables checking for possible overlapping of definitions of variables. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is opened in a floating window.

Messages 1 Messages 2 Symbols Breakpoint list Watch

- *Messages 1 and Messages 2 window* shows messages from the compiler, search reports, tracing reports, etc. By left-clicking onto the displayed message you will be taken to the line regarding the message. The tool is opened by clicking on the its tab or in the menu "View | Other windows'. By default it is docked in the bottom panel.
  - **Symbols window** Displays symbolic names used in program after compilation. Leftclick on item in the editor will send the cursor to the definition of the symbol. The tool is opened from the tab or menu "View | Symbols". By default they are docked into the bottom panel.
- List of breakpoints window Displays a list of breakpoints inserted into the program by the user during debugging. Left-click on an item will display a dialog window for

setting up the conditions of the breakpoint. The tool is opened from the tab or menu "View | Breakpoint list". By default they are docked into the bottom panel.

**Data window** - Displays data of user selected variables for monitoring their state and values during debugging. Double-click on a variable shows a dialog window with display conditions of the respective data item. Items can be grouped into more groups so called banks. The selection of items into banks is done via the local toolbar or by dragging and dropping from IEC manager tree. Order of items can be changed via arrows from the local toolbar. Tools are opened by clicking onto their tab or via menu "View|Data". By default the window is opened docked into the bottom panel.

	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	=	×
S0=	::	::	:	:	:	:	:		:	:	:	:	
					_	_	_		_	_	_	_	
		_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
AO:													

Accumulator window - Displays accumulator data in a PLC for monitoring during debugging in mnemonic code (\*.mos). Accumulators are memory locations above which instruction are executed. Right-click displays a dialog window for setting the format of the respective item. The tool is opened via tab or menu "View | Accumulators". By default the window is docked into the right panel.



**Memory 1 and Memory 2 panels –** displays register data memory of PLC for monitoring during runs. Right-click displays a dialog window for setting the format of the respective item. The contents of the selected item can be changed using the keyboard and confirming the change using Enter. For quick editing of the settings, buttons are situated at the top of the window and after clicking on the window *Selected memory* a dialog window for the selection of operands opens. The tool is opened via tab or menu "View | Memory". By default the window is docked into the right panel.

# 5. PROJECT MANAGER

Used to define PLC type, to set it up and adjust individual functions of the PLC module. Used for setting general SW driver functions for communication, interconnected data transfers between PLC projects and also operator text panels which included into such project group. It automatically generates parts of program codes regarding system configuration which are saved in files with the suffixes: \*.hwc, \*.hwn, HWConfig.st and other.

After clicking on the icon which is always located in the top left corner as can be seen in the picture, or by pressing Ctrl+Alt+F11 or using the menu "Project/Project manager" the Program manager window opens.



Fig. 12. Location of Project Manager icon in basic Mosaic window

The Project manager window contains a tree with all adjustable basic parameters on the left side and an area on the right side with objects used for adjusting parameters. By opening various groups of the tree and selecting an item a window will all adjustable parameters will open.

🏘 Mosaic - C:\TecoApp\Skupin	aPLC.mpr: PLC_loader1				
🥱 File Edit Search View P	roject Program PLC Debug Tools Help <b>NoComm</b> 🕂 🖶				
	🗳 🚅   🛄   🕥 🐵     🔌   🖪   🗖 🗖 🖬 🗖 🗖 🖬 💭   🗔 🖉 🖓 🛤 📟 🐿				
<b>]</b> 🖉 🎝 🎝 🖉	1: prgMain.LD   2: TestFBD2.FBD   3: PLC_LOADER1.ST 5* myFB.ST 7: myFCE.ST   8: myIL.IL   Pan				
Project manager					
PLC Address: 0	L Use				
Connection type: Not connected					
⊕ Common settings					
±Hw	This tree node contains no adjustable item.				
	· ·				
	Please, select another node.				

Fig. 13. Project manager window

# 5.1 Setting the address and type of connection to the PLC



#### Fig. 14. Setting the connection to the PLC

As can be seen on the picture, the address setting of the PLC has been selected on the left window of the screen. The window on the right enables seeing the PLC network address (0-99), choose the type of connection of the computer to the PLC (Serial port, USB, Ethernet) and additionally set the parameters of the selected communication channel ( in this case the IP address, timeout and LAN or Internet option). The buttons Connect and Disconnect are used for real-time connection management of the PLC.

PLC Address:	Connect	Communication parameter PLC connected to:	COM1 💌
Connection type		Communication apood:	20400 have
COM port	Disconnect	Communication speed.	38400 bps
C USB		<u>T</u> imeout:	9600 bps
C Ethomat			14400 bps
		Transfer control	38400 bps
C Simulated PLC		Parity	56000 bps
C Soft PLC		E DC 405 Made	115200 bps
		I♥ h5 <u>4</u> 00 Mode	
		Set DTR signal	
Dial-up connection			

*Fig. 15.* Setting the serial channel parameters

PLC Address: 1	Connect	<u>T</u> imeout:	500 🛨 ms
Connection type COM port USB Ethernet Simulated PLC Soft PLC	Disconnect		

*Fig. 16.* Setting the USB connection parameters

The serial channels needs to set its number on the computer with Mosaic, speed, parity, whether it is a RS485 mode, DTR signal setting and also dial-up connection.

Timeout can also be set. Timeout is the time which passes till an error is signaled if the PLC does not answer.

Only timeout is set for the USB connection.

PLC Address: 1	Connect
Connection type C COM port C USB C Ethernet	Disconnect
Simulated PLC     Soft PLC	Mosaic PLC

Fig. 17. Simulated PLC

Here you can choose to debug a simulated PLC, which is part of the Mosaic installation.

Mosaic PLC option – enables connecting visualization directly to the simulator in Mosaic via Ethernet. If the visualization is running on the same computer, the IP address is 127.0.0.1. If the visualization is running on different PC within the network, the IP address is the IP address of the computer with Mosaic.

# 5.2 Common settings

The 2 windows inform about:

 Active "Program modules", i.e. plug-ins which increase the functional possibilities of the Mosaic environment.

Project manager					
PLC Address: 0	L Use C	ору			
Connection type: Simulated PL	11				
🖻 Common settings	Loaded plug-ins Ejected plug-ins	Mosaic and [	DLL		
Plug-ins	Description		Version	Interface	Location
	Make and simulate KEYB2		1.0.0.9	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\KEYMaker.dll
Select tupe of PLC series	HW Info Text for Mosaic		2.0.10.12	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\HWInfo.dll
- HW Configuration	BackupMaker for Mosaic	2.0.10.5	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\BACKUP~1.DLL	
	GraphMaker for Mosaic	2.2.1.0	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\GRAPHM~1.DLL	
	Mosaic ST compiler COM adapter	1.1.0.3	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\STComp.dll	
	Webmaker for Mosaic		1.6.9.0	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\Webmaker.dll
	Panel simulation for Mosaic		2.0.10.13	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\PanelSim.dll
	PanelMaker for Mosaic		3.0.11.38	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\PANELM~1.DLL
	PIDMaker for Mosaic (Controllers Sup	oport Library)	2.1.6.0	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\PIDMaker.dll
	Select type of PLC for sw Mosaic		2.0.13.85	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\SELECT~1.DLL
	Graphic PanelMaker for Mosaic			5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\GPMaker.dll
	Mosaic PLC plugin		1.0.2.0	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\MOSAIC~1.DLL
	IEC Manager for Mosaic		2.7.22.0	5.0.12.1	c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\IECMan.dll
	ST compiler		3.5.5.0		c:\PROGRA~1\COMMON~1\Mosaic\St.dll

Fig. 18. Program module manager

• Folder settings, i.e. default folders for saving projects and archived copies

Project manager		
PLC Address: 0	L Use	
- Connection type: Simulated PL	(a)	
🚊 Common settings		
Plug-ins	Projects folder:	C:\TecoApp
Folders setting		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
⊨ Hw		
- Select type of PLC series	Archive folder:	C:\TecoArchive
HW Configuration		
PLC Network - logical conr		
i≟- Sw		
i Environment		
<u> </u>		



# 5.3 HW configurator

# 5.3.1 PLC series selecting

The project manager offers several basic series of PLCs to choose from:



#### Fig. 20. PLC series selection

Firstly choose the PLC group according to type:

- Modular systems: TC700, Foxtrot and older NS950.
- Compact systems: TC650, TC600, TC500, TC400
- ◆ Regulating systems: TR300, TR200, TR050

Note:

PLC series NS950 (not produced anymore), TC600, TC500, TC400, TR300, TR200 and TR050 are not recommended for new projects. Mosaic supports them but only for ensuring long-term service and maintenance.

It is necessary to choose the central unit type by modular systems. Select an item and click on "Use" or double-click on the selected item. A window will open to set the communication channel of the central unit.

The option "**Suppress IO module operators**" switches off the automatic generating of configuration files. It is intended for cases when an older PLC with source codes is used which have the configuration information written in the program manually. If it necessary to e.g. make some changes, this option will hinder an error caused by the automatic tool which would overwrite all such information.

It is possible to switch between the by default turned on mode "Create PLC config files" and the "Configuration cannot be changed" mode where the configuration has been set and cannot be changed e.g. by accident.

# 5.3.2 HW configuration



Fig. 21. Example of HW PLC Foxtrot configuration

Project manager								×
PLC Address: 0	<u> ∐</u> se							
Connection type: Simulated PL ⊡ Common settings	i 💿 Autogenera	te confi	g. file 🔿 C	onfiguration ca	an't be changed	i 🗖 F	or this project suppress IO r	nodules
<ul> <li>Hw</li> <li>Select type of PLC series</li> <li>HW Configuration</li> </ul>	TC700							
□			Number of rac basic	ks 2 +		extended	0 +	
Cpm	Rack setup	-	O RMO	RM1 Displa	ays			
Compiler     Sending files to PLC	Position		Module type	Name	Version	Power demand	Order number	
. Environment	0 PW-7906 24.00 W							
±. Documentation	1 TXN 179 06	ً √	CP-7004			-5.00 W	TXN 170 04	
	2	ً √	IB-7302			-1.80 W	TXN 173 02	
	3	🔽 🗸	OS-7402			-1.50 W	TXN 174 02	
	1							
	Access	ories						
	DI : 32 / 0		DO : 200 / 3	2 /	AI:070	A0:870		
	∑ PW : 15.70 W							
× P	C Upload from	PLC	1/0 set	ting	🎦 Select (cho	ice)	🐼 Setup	<b>?</b> Help

#### Fig. 22. Example of HW PLC TC700 configuration

The options and settings of HW are in detailed described in the Mosaic help "Selecting and setting PLC series".

#### 5.3.2.1 Setting CHx communication channels on central unit

By clicking on the yellow *signal content* icon on the line with the central unit a dialog will open for

setting the communication channels.

For setting up the mode, first choose the channel by selecting the appropriate line in the table. We can choose among the modes which are available for the given central unit type and type of channel in the right grey zone.

The following picture shows an example of a universal mode channel setting on the Ethernet channel after clicking on the yellow icon. The open window "Universal mode channel settings" offers parameters characteristic only for this mode.

Channel parameters setting			X
Com. channels setti	ngs are i	ncluded in	a program and are prefered to ones in CPM EEPROM !
	Channel structure	rack / Channel position mode	Communication Communication Answer Inmunication CTS Token Transmision
Channel mode uni	CP-7004	0/1	Setting of channel universal mode
Channels numbering	ECH		UNIO + -
Communication address		PC 😨 OFF	Compared at a zone     Compared at a zone     Compared at a zone
Communication speed	ETH1		Zone length 1 Zone length 1
	ETH	PC, MDB	B Zone address 🔲 %R0 Zone address 🗍 %R0
Answer delay 0 -	ETH	PLC -off	Receiving data zone ETH1_UNI0_IN Sending data zone ETH1_UNI0_OUT
Communication delay	ETH	uni 😨	
CTS Detection	ETH	BAC -off	Protocol type Remote IP address 0.0.0.0
Token transfer 📃 💌	⊡USB		TCP master
Transmission with parity	-USB	PC	C TCP slave Remote port 61000
			O UDP Local port 61000
Ethernet			
Praddress 000,000,000,000			🗸 OK 🛛 🗶 Cancel 🧳 Help
Default gatewa 000.000.000.000			
Upload from PLC			
Save to PLC		Backup program	n into EEPROM off 🔽 🖌 OK 🔀 Cancel 🥊 ? Help

Fig. 23. Setting the universal channel mode to an Ethernet interface on CP-7004

Please note, that there are many communication channel modes (HW interface combination with protocol) and so each communication channel mode opens a different window with only those parameters available to the given mode.

Only basic settings of serial channels and basic IP address settings of the Ethernet channel can be done in the left part of the window. For setting the other modes, it is necessary to click on the yellow icon in the Channel mode column and so open an individual dialog window.

Detailed information about available communication channels and their modes are stated in the documentation supplied with all central units and basic PLC modules.

Similar windows and settings apply for the additional communication modules.

#### 5.3.2.2 Setting the parameters of peripheral modules

By clicking on the yellow icon on the line with the peripheral module a dialog will open with its settings. Detailed information about settings are stated in the documentation supplied with all peripheral units

Module settings IR-1055         Binary IO       counter mode         Analog inputs	×
Channel AIQ Passing of value Binary value (FS) Engineering value (ENG) Normalised value (PCT)	Channel Al1  Passing of value Binary value (FS) Engineering value (ENG) Normalised value (PCT)
Channel Al2  Passing of value Binary value (FS) Engineering value (ENG) Normalised value (PCT)	Channel AI3  Passing of value Binary value (FS) Engineering value (ENG) Normalised value (PCT)
Enable ignore module error	✓ OK X Cancel ? Help

Fig. 24. Example of peripheral module settings

# 5.3.3 PLC network- logic connection

The following window enables graphically describing the PLC network and other objects as superior PCs, display panels, hubs, switches, CanOpen, Profibus DP and others.

This is done by selecting objects from the menu "Objects". Besides the general objects which are located in the left part of the picture, it is also possible to insert other PLCs from the current Project group. These are then shown in the area with their names, communication channels and modes all according to their current state in the relevant projects.

The objects may be connected using homothetic modes by just double-clicking on the channel on one and then on the other object.

Picture 27 shows an example of an open "Object" menu. The left side shows all available objects from the "Object" menu. Only a PC and an Ethernet switch are connected. The right side shows how other PLCs from the same Project group are connected via the Ethernet channel. This network description common for all PLCs in the same Project group. It can be edited from any project.

For adding a PLC from the same Project group click on <sup>1</sup> icon or select the first line within the Object menu.



*Fig. 25. Window for configuring the logic connection of a PLC and its environment* 

Profibus DP and CANopen objects, or other switches, can be later setup through the context menu by right-mouse click on the object. Picture 28 shows an example of a dialog window for setting modules connected via a Profibus DP protocol. The dialog window is controlled by a GSD configuration file which has been selected from the list of already used Profibus equipment or it is possible to add a new GSD file for new equipment. It is possible to select an offered station type and set other parameters within the dialog. A description of the Profibus DP communication can be found in TXV 001 06 chapter 2.7 and 2.9.



# *Fig. 26.* Window with settings of I/O modules connected via Profibus DP protocol

A description of CAN network communication can be found in the TXV 001 06 handbook chapter 2.10.

Communication speed	500 kBd 💌	]	Communication speed	500 kBd 🔽
Address of data in	%R0		🗖 Address of data in	%R906
Address of data out	%R456		🗖 Address of data out	%R1362
Filter config	single filter 💌	]	Filter config	single filter 🔽
filter value 1	\$0000000		filter value 1	\$0000000
filter mask 1	\$FFFFFFF		filter mask 1	\$FFFFFFF
filter value 2	\$0000		filter value 2	\$0000
filter mask 2	\$FFFF		filter mask. 2	\$FFFF

Fig. 27. Window with settings of I/O modules connected via CAN protocol

# 5.4 SW configurator

### 5.4.1 Application program and library information window

Project manager		×
PLC Address: 0	<u>. ∐</u> se	Use editor font
Connection type: Simulated PL	Program name:	
En Hw	r rogram name.	
- Select type of PLC series	Library name:	Build: Build: Build:
	Project name:	
⊡- Sw	Dia managia yang	
- Program	Filogrammer's nam	e
- Compiler	Firm name:	
Sending files to PLC	Copyright:	
		This program can be designed according to the IEC 61131 international standard
	History:	
	I	

#### Fig. 28. Window for setting SW information

Here it is possible to manually add information characterizing the created program. Usually information about the version, author, supplying company and copyright. Also it is possible to in detail describe the program as well as all previous versions. When generating your own program libraries, set its name, version, subversion and compilation here.

# 5.4.2 Window for setting PLC central units

Project manager	
PLC Address: 0 Connection type: Simulated PL	L Use as default
E Common settings Hw Collect times of DLC series	CPM type: K
- HW Configuration - HW Configuration	Output blocking RUN control
⊡- Sw	C Active with '0'
Program Cpm	C Active with '1'
Compiler     Sending files to PLC	PLC restart       C Warm       C Lold
	First warning: ms
	Crash time:
	Remanent register <u>z</u> one:
	Change daylight saving time automatically
	Default

## Fig. 29. Window for setting PLC central units

The default values characterizing the behavior of the automat in various situations is set here.

- after start,
- during long cycle,
- when working with blocked or active outputs,
- activating automatic day light saving mode

After switching the PLC power supply on, besides others, the user program is being run in the RAM memory from the EEPROM memory. This function is conditioned by activating the option "Backup program in EPPROM" that can be found in the central unit parameters.

The option "protected tables" prevents overwriting T table contents with default values from the EEPROM / Flash after PLC power supply is switched on.

#### Note: Do not activate this option if PLC programmed according to IEC standards!

Further details to the meaning of the options are stated in the documentation describing the central unit of the given PLC system.

## 5.4.3 Compiler settings window

Project manager	
PLC Address: 0	👃 🖉 se 🔲 🗖 Use as default
Connection type: Not connecte	1.
⊡ Common settings	Subdirectories: \$(MOSAIC);\$(MOSAIC)Usi
<ul> <li>Hw</li> <li>Select type of PLC series</li> <li>HW Configuration</li> <li>PLC Network - logical conr</li> <li>Sw</li> <li>Program</li> <li>Cpm</li> <li>Compiler</li> <li>Sending files to PLC</li> <li>Environment</li> <li>Documentation</li> </ul>	Register remanent zone       2.         Compatible with xPRO V3.0       Generate file         Control       Manual         Increase only       Public symbols         Allways minimal size       Warnings         Recompile after resize       Generate warnings
	Save PLC binary code file autonaticly 6.
	Library 5. Created library store to Mosaic library directory C Project group directory Save library in crypted form

Fig. 30. Compiler settings window

Parameters are set here according to which the compiler modifies the generated programs.

- 1. A ranked list of other folders searched during compilation, besides the folder of the project itself.
- 2. Retain registers in the Tecomat PLC are always located in the notepad memory starting by the register %R0. (The size of the retain zone effects the processor computing length between individual program cycles.) The older xPRO compiler up to version v3.0 does not support directive #rem for the allocation of retain variables and their allocation was completely up to the programmer. It is necessary to choose this option when working with older projects.

Newer versions of the xPRO compiler enable combining #reg and #rem directives. Now it is possible to choose:

- Manually: number of retain register in bytes is set in the window "Setting the PLC central module".
- Only increase: the compiler automatically increases the number of remnant registers
- Always minimal size: the compiler automatically shifts the limit of retain registers according to the minimal needs.

The xPRO compiler checks and prompts an error message when the retain zone overflows. It shifts the limits for the new compilation and which comes out without mistakes. The repeating of a compilation can be automatically run by activating the option "Repeat compilation after change".

In programs according to IEC standard the retain variables are assigned to the group
VAR\_GLOBAL RETAIN and the assignment of necessary registers is done automatically during compilation.

- 3. Before the compilation it is possible to activate the option for generating information into:
  - detailed program report (\*.lst),
  - register allocation map (\*.map)
  - file with public name public (\*.pub)
- 4. It is possible to suppress generating of alert messages into the window "Messages". It is not recommended to do so. The compiler alerts are useful because they may signalize mistakes made by the programmer!
- 5. From generating your own library from your project, a target can be set, i.e. one from two folders for its saving.

# 5.5 Environment configurator

## 5.5.1 PLC control window

Project manager	
PLC Address: 0	🛓 🗵 se 🔚 🗖 Use as default
Connection type: Not connected     Common settings     Hw     Sw     Preferences     Text editor options     Text editor colors     Source code displayed by LD     HW files configuration     Code completion	<ul> <li>□ Enable 'Online changes'</li> <li>□ On RUN command</li> <li>□ Restart type</li> <li>○ Cold</li> <li>○ Warm</li> <li>○ Do not restart</li> <li>□ Clear error</li> <li>□ Clear error</li> </ul>
	Block output     Clear output     Disable request for type of PLC restart while setting RUN mode

### Fig. 31. PLC control window

Behavior parameters of the PLC when switching from RUN to HALT are set here.

- when switching to RUN
  - resetting error messages
  - blocking outputs when switching to RUN.
  - restart types
    - cold restart resets all %R registers in the notepad memory including retain registers and runs PLC with initial values set for the program via process P61.
    - warm restart resets %R registers in notepad memory besides retain registers and runs PLC with initial values set for the program via process P62.
    - Does not execute does not execute any changes to the notepad memory.
- When switching to HALT
  - confirmation when switching to HALT
  - resetting error messages

- resetting output module states (blocking outputs when switching to HALT is always done).
- OnLine program changes option (description of OnLine programming can be found the document TXV 033 42).

## 5.5.2 Other environment configuration windows

Here the environment behavior parameters are set, which are easily understood thanks to their names. It is good to mention the note regarding the HW file configuration parameter:

During project compilation, the order of compilation is managed by the list (see tool "Project group") and automatic tools insert their products automatically forward. When creating some libraries, it is necessary to shift completely forward some definition parts of the source code. For this case, it is possible to use the option **switch off automatic file order change**.

# 5.6 Documentation windows

Information in text form is shown here regarding the settings of PLC HW and SW.

# 6. SETTING INPUTS AND OUTPUTS

By selecting the icon in the top toolbar you will open a complex tool for input and output management. It is by default opened into a floating window in the modal mode (i.e. the window must be closed after working with it). The tool can be opened from the HW configurator as well.

It can be opened by clicking on *in at the bottom of the window.* This tool has two basic functions.

- It shows the data structure of peripheral modules and enables assigning each variable its own name (alias) via which the programmer will access the variables.
- If a PLC is connected n the RUN mode then it shows the current values of all I/O variables. If needed it can fixate their values during debugging to the requested state.

After the compilation it shows the resulting absolute addresses of the inputs and outputs.

It enables assigning inputs and outputs fixed absolute addresses if the programmer finds it necessary.

💱 I/O setting									
IEC 📩 💑 👯	DEC EXP	HEX BIN STR	18 🖻 🗥				<sup>11.</sup> S1	03 = \$00 📉 Da	ata OK 🛛 RunF
RM0 RM1	O RM2	1							
1 PW-7904 2 IR	-7551	7.	3.	2.	<del>8. ,</del>	4. ~	<u>5</u>		12.
Data structure	6.	Full notation	Aliza	Torminal	Aba Ilan	1 June 1	Fined 4	Noto	
	_	r2 n2 DI	Allas	Termina	ADS./ICH.		Fixeu	NUCE	
		r2 ₀2 DI~DI0	Start1	A2	2×13.0				
-DI1 : BOOL		r2 p2 DI~DI1	Start2	A3	2×13.1				
-DI2 : BOOL		r2 p2 DI~DI2	Stop Central	A4	2×13.2				
-DI3 : BOOL		r2_p2_DI~DI3	Hladina1	A5	XX13.3				
-DI4 : BOOL		r2_p2_DI~DI4	Hladina2	A6	XX13.4				
-DI5 : BOOL	(PUBLIC)	r2_p2_D1~D15	Hladina3	A7	XX13.5				
-DIG : BOOL	(PUBLIC)	r2_p2_D1~D16	Dvere_otevreno	A8	XX13.6				
-DI7 : BOOL	(PUBLIC)	r2_p2_D1~D17	Auto_rucne	A9	XX13.7				
⊟DO : TBIN_8DO		r2_p2_D0							
-DOO : BOOL		r2_p2_D0~D00	Cerpadlo1_on		%Y6.0				
-DO1 : BOOL		r2_p2_D0~D01	Cerpadlo1_off	A1	%Y6.1				
-DO2 : BOOL	(PUBLIC)	r2_p2_D0~D02	Cerpadlo2_on	A2	%Y6.2				
-DO3 : BOOL		r2_p2_D0~D03	Cerpadlo2_off	A3	%Y6.3				
-DO4 : BOOL	(PUBLIC)	r2_p2_D0~D04	Zamek	A4	%Y6.4				
-DO5 : BOOL	(PUBLIC)	r2_p2_D0~D05	Osvetleni	A5	%Y6.5				
-DO6 : BOOL		r2_p2_D0~D06		A6	%Y6.6				
<b>D07</b> : BOOL		2_p2_D0~D07		A7	%Y6.7				
								_13	3
<u> </u>								<u> </u>	
							ан	Y Coursel	2 Hala
								👗 Lancel	<b>у</b> нер

#### Fig. 32. I/O setting tool

- 1. The tabs show the structure of the control system compilation in several frames and all mounted modules. It is used for selecting a peripheral module according to a specific position in the frame.
  - The viewed/selected module has its name on the tab in blue.
  - Should the module not have the operator option activated (option checked with red cross in HW configuration) but all module data structures are defined, then all items in the table are grey.
  - If the PLC is online and the take-out option is activated and it is taken out during

running, then the name is struck through.

- If the name is red, then the module has some fixed signals.
- 2. **Terminal** Label of terminal on module connector.
- 3. **Alias** A variable assigned to a specific input/output is randomly named. Changes made to the names are only accepted after the program is compiled and written into the PLC.
- 4. **Value** shows the current value of the inputs/outputs of the connected or simulated PLC
- 5. **Fixation** Fixation of a variable value during debugging an algorithm. This function can be useful when starting new controlled technologies.
  - **Inputs** here they can be set to a value which is not affected by the actual current state of the module input.
  - **Outputs** here they can be set to a value which is not affected by the program.
- 6. **Data structure** the tree structure of the data available to a selected module. This regards not only direct inputs and outputs but also information about state, keywords, ranges, etc.
  - The icon in the right part of the column shows whether the item is a input or output
  - The PUBLIC option enables exporting the Alias by chosen inputs and outputs into files which are used for importing names for visualization tools (SCADA systems)
- 7. **Complete record** Automatic/by default assigned system name of variable to structure: frame\_position\_input/output\_
- 8. **Abs/length** absolute address of variable or length of variable in bytes.
- 9. Toolbar with buttons for selecting manner of view -
  - ♦ IEC IEC switches the recording format of absolute names according to the IEC standard (%I %Q) or according to the Tecomat syntax %X %Y
  - ♦ Start,
  - 🔹 💑 Stop,
  - 🔸 💑 Freeze

sets the behavior of the view manner in the column Value

- DEC, EXP, HEX, BIN, STR options for the view manner in the column Value
- **I** Signum shows data with or without sign

## 10. **Map of inputs' and outputs' occupation**" see description of tool below

- 11. **State information** set of information which shows:
  - signal of switched on fixation mode,
  - signal of validity of displayed data,
  - working mode of connected PLC (RUN/HALT) and communication state.
- 12. Buttons for suppressing display of table columns  $\P$  and vice versa

13. **Help** opens help for variables in the data structure of the selected I/O module.

# 6.1 Alias – naming input and output signals

Every peripheral PLC module has, according to its type, its input and output data

organized into data structures. When configuring a PLC, symbolic names (3.) are assigned to each input and output of every module in the set according to the methodology described in the following examples. Symbolic names eliminate the worries of the programmers regarding the assignment of absolute addresses into notepad memories for each input or output and enable easier program portability.

To make the record well-arranged for the programmer, he can assign is own symbolic name to the inputs and outputs. Usually he will use the name of the connected sensor, device or measured value. This next user symbolic name is called an Alias and is assigned in the Alias column. The system checks the requested uniqueness of these names within the frame of the whole project.

### Example 1:

The binary input module IB-7302 contains input signals organized into 32 BOOL type variables. Its name is r0\_p3\_DI, where:

- r0 means the frame with the address 0,
- p3 means position 3 within the frame and
- DI means binary inputs.

The fourth bit has the system name r0\_p3\_DI.DI3.

The programmer can assign each signal a proper noun, a so called "alias" which describes the function of the signal. E.g. "myName13". Later on he can use this proper noun (8.) instead of more complicated system names of this signal.

### Example 2:

The analog input module IT-7604 contains 8 analog channels with the system names r0 p9 Al0 to r0 p9 Al7. Their data structure contains their own measured values and bit flags. E.g. overflow underflow of range etc. Each channel can be assigned an alias as a **"TEMPERATURE1"** then own whole, the measuring would be e.g. "TEMPERATURE1.ENG". Or we can just name the measured value e.a. "TEMPERATURE". Later on in the program, we can use this name instead of more complicated system names of this signal.

The names of I/O signals should be assigned before writing the program.

# 6.2 Map of I/O occupation and I/O absolute addresses

In some **special** cases the project engineer will need to assign I/O signals to specific absolute addresses in the notepad memory. For such cases, Mosaic has this tool which gives information about the occupation of I/O of a PLC and makes possible to manually change I/O addresses of modules.



### Fig. 33. I/O occupation map - inputs

- 1. Selection of zone of inputs or outputs
- 2. Field for **assigning absolute** position of peripheral module
- 3. Optimalization button, i.e. shift of all free modules to a lowest possible address.
- 4. Map of addresses with coloured occupied addresses
- 5. **Selected module –** Moving cursor above coloured part displays the specific module and its data.
- 6. Button for stepping: per individual module



### Fig. 34. I/O occupation map - outputs

Changes made to the names are only accepted after the program is compiled and written into the PLC.

# 7. IEC MANAGER

- **IEC manager.** Is used for organizing and editing items in the user program according to IEC 61 131-3. The IEC manager is opened automatically and is by default docked in the left panel. It is divided into several tabs which can be described as follows:
  - ♦ POU programmable organizational units
  - 🗓 *Types* variable types
  - Global variables globally available variables
  - *Configuration* organization of tasks and program items
  - III Libraries overview of included libraries and their content

## 7.1 Local menu in IEC manager window

The IEC manager helps generate

- ♦ POUs,
- data types,
- variables,
- configurator program tasks
- Adding or removing libraries.

The right-mouse click within the IEC manager window always opens a local menu. This menu is modified according to which item in the IEC manager is currently active. If some options are not needed or do not have a meaning, then they are grey or are not shown at all. The example shown has all options active.



## Fig. 35. Example of local menu in the IEC manager

- 1. **Controlling groups** in a tree of IEC manager items. Opening and closing of tree groups can be done by left-mouse click on the group sign + /-.
- 2 Context transfer to a text source of item.
- 3. Adding and editing of tree items.
- 4. Searching in tree items.
- 5. **Select** selection of entire item in text format. **Copy** complete item name into clipboard.
- 6. Item order in tree according to criteria.
- 7. Features of selected item.
- 8. Adding and removing libraries. System libraries cannot be removed.

🛟 Information - mo	torIsRun : BOOL	
Variable :	fbMotor.motorlsRun	
File :	C:\TECOAPP\SKUPINAPLC\PLC1\FB.ST	
Line :	20	
Absolute position :	???	
Size :	???	
Array element position		
Array element Size :		
	Comment	
		<u></u>
<u>ج</u>		▶
		OK

Fig. 36. Example of display of IEC manager item features

# 7.2 POU rules

# POU – tab with rules of POUs

**Programs, function blocks and functions** are shown in a tree. Their rules are defined in the project. By clicking on the groups + sign, the group is opened. If an item of the tree is selected then we can, using the local menu or hotkeys, work with this item. It is possible to open the item in an editor and do changes to it. These changes are then retroactively projected into the POU manager tree.

7. IEC manager



Fig. 37. Example of tree display in POU tab in the IEC manager

Types – tab with variable types

System types and Types, which are defined in the project, are shown in the tree. Opening and closing of tree groups is done by left-mouse click on the group +- sign.



Fig. 38. Tab for showing types in the IEC manager

ype declaration			2
Variable Context		Variable type	C. Hardware
TYPE		<u>Basic (ypes</u> <u>Sustem tune</u>	s C Eunction Blocks
Variable name	<u>1.                                    </u>		
	ARRAY [ ]01		•
variable is pointer			2.
Absolute position AT	%		
Initialization			
, Comment			
			A
			<u> </u>
		3. 🔥 Add next	Cance

*Fig. 39. Type declaration in the IEC manager* 

- 1. Variable name pink colour indicates unapproved name. A different one must be chosen.
- 2 Variable types a variable type is determined by selecting it from the list.
- 3. *Add following* ads following declaration with predefined settings or the OK button closes the dialog.

Type declaration					×
Variable Context			Variable type		
TYPE		•	Basic typ     Section     Section	es <u>OU</u> ser	types
<u>Yariable name</u>	I. <b></b>		O <u>S</u> ystem tj	ipes <u>C E</u> unc	tion Blocks
myType3		1	JOF STRUCT		Ī
variable is pointer	PUBLIC)				2.
🔲 Absolute position AT	%				
Initialization					
					<u> </u>
Comment					
					<b>A</b>
					<b>_</b>
		3.	🛕 🛕 dd item	✓ o <u>K</u>	X Cancel

Fig. 40. Structure type declaration in IEC manager

- 1. Variable name pink colour indicates unapproved name. A different one must be chosen.
- 2 **Variable types** a variable type is determined by selecting it from the list. It is possible to add items via a button (3.) if it is a structure
- 3. Add item adds items into the structure or the OK button closes the dialog.

## 7.3 Globally available variables

0

*Global variables* – tab with a structure of globally (i.e. wherever in the program) available variables

The following is shown in the tree

• system variables (e.g. I/O module data, etc.)

• global variables which are defined in the project.

Variables may be defined in registers

- Var\_Global i.e. resets after power is switched on
- Var\_Global\_Retain i.e. into retain registers
- Var\_Global\_Constant i.e. into global constants
- Var\_External i.e. variables defined outside the IEC program part e.g. defined in their native mnemocode language.

Further information can be found in the guidebook TXV 003 21.

By clicking on the groups + sign, the group is opened. If an item of the tree is selected then we can, using the local menu or hotkeys, work with this item. It is possible to open the item in an editor and do changes to it. These changes are then retroactively projected into the POU manager tree.



Fig. 41. Tab of global variable display in the IEC manager

# 7.4 Organization of tasks and items – program configuration

*Configuration* - a tab used for organizing task and instances in a project.

The organization of tasks is shown in the tree in which POUs are defined. Tasks are items of a program compatible with process already introduced in all TECOMAT PLCs (see chapter 10 of guidebook TXV 001 09).

#### For example:

- ◆ P0 a process executed periodically in every PLC cycle,
- P41- a process executed every 10 ms,
- P62- a process executed a warm restart etc.



## *Fig. 42.* Tab of task and instance configuration in the IEC manager

It is possible to drag items (POUs, data structures, variables) into the window "Data".

## 7.5 Libraries

Libraries – The tab is used for showing included libraries and their contents The tree shows the included libraries which can transfer definitions/rules into the program, which have been made elsewhere, for the function blocks, functions, types and global variables. The user uses these items without having to or being able to edit them.



### Fig. 43. Library tab in IEC manager

MOSAIC always contains libraries with built in function which are contained already in the compiler and cannot be removed. Other libraries can be added or removed by the programmer into the project via the options found in the local menu after right-mouse click in the window. The libraries included into the project are connected with the project so to conserve all its features even after the upgrade of the library. The items of the included libraries are then available in the according tools for inputting POUs, operands and similar...

The description of built in libraries can be found in the document TXV 003 22.

By double-clicking on an item from a standard library an editor window will open with the suffix .mlb. It contains the declaration of the library item heads with description in the notes.

Specialized libraries have descriptions in separate documents.

Tab 1	Standard	supplied	libraries
100.1.	otaniaana	oupplied	instantee

Library name	purpose / "relevant documents"	Order	status
		number	
StdLib	standard functions and FB		free
SysLib	system functions and variables		free
DataBoxLib	work with DataBoxem		free
CrcLib	calculations of control polynoms		free
LittleBigEndian	conversion of Intel / Motorola formats		free
SignalAdapt	filtration and interpolation of signals		free
IRCLib	"Regulation libraries for Mosaic"	TXV 003 23	free
RegoLib	"Regulation libraries for Mosaic"	TXV 003 23	free
MotionControlLib	"Positioning modules TC700"	TXV 004 25	free
FileLib	"Library for work with files"	TXV 003 41	free
GsmLib	"Library for GSM"	TXV 003 40	free
ComLib	"Library for communication"	TXV 003 51	free
ModbusRTU	"Library for Modbus RTU Master"	TXV 003 52	free

(For another see <u>www.tecomat.com</u>)

# 8. TEXT EDITORS

*Editor ST* used for structured text programs in accordance to IEC61131-3. (\*.st) *Editor IL* is used for instruction list programs in accordance to IEC 61131-3 (\*.il) *Editor Txt* is used for preparing and general text files (\*.txt)

*Editor xPRO* is used for maintenance and service of older TECOMAT, TECOREG systems saved into \*.mos, \*.mas, \*.950 files

Text editors enable creating and change source text in parts of user programs which as a whole create a project. According to the suffix of the file's name, individual text editors are opened. The editor uses

- colour highlighted syntaxes for each type of language
- support tools for quicker inserting of wizard language construction or for creating and inserting names of variables.
- usual hotkeys for editing and formatting source text,
- work with column blocks, etc.

A list with the function of hotkeys is included in the appendix at the end of this document.

# 8.1 Structured text program

It is recommended to study the guidebook *Programming PLCs according to IEC 61 131-3 in Mosaic* TXV 003 21 chap. 4.2. for more detailed information

A new ST language source text is best created using the IEC manager where by using the local menu a new POU can be added and the ST language selected. The file can also be opened via the main menu "File/New/New file..." or by using the hotkey Ctrl+N.

By confirming the following question the file will be added to the project compilation.

Confirma	tion			×
?	Add newly crea	ated file to the c	urrent project?	
	Yes	No	Cancel	

### *Fig. 44.* **Question regarding adding the file into the project**

After entering a name with the suffix \*.st a ST editor will open. Now we can start randomly entering variable declarations as well as POU bodies. The following picture shows an empty ST language program and basic control options available from the local menu accessible via right-mouse click within the editor area.

8. Text editors

🛟 Mosaic - C:\MosaicApp\Sku	upinaPLC.mpr: PLC_loader		
😼 File Edit Search View	Project Program PLC Debug Tools	Help 0:Halt 94 ms	😣 🖶
] 😅 🗐 🕼 🖆 🛛 💕	🗳 🗳 📕   🎦 🗎 🕥 💿 🔪 ] (	群 - 第 第 -   🖪   🗖	
<b>1 4 4</b>	1: prgMain.ST 2: PLC_vstup.mcf		3
8 <b>6 6 7</b> 11	PROGRAM prgMain		4
Brograms     Programs     Programs     VAR_INPUT     VAR	VAR_INPUT END_VAR VAR END_VAR VAR_OUTPUT	IEC Assistant Define IEC variable Insert variable Complete IEC code	Ctrl+J Ctrl+D Shift+Ctrl+V Ctrl+Space
VAR_OUTPI	END_UAR	Set context to caret position	F11
VAR_TEMP Function Blocks Functions	END_VAR END_VAR END_PROGRAM	Undo Redo	Ctrl+Z Shift+Ctrl+Z
		Cut	Ctrl+X
		Copy Paste Delete <b>Select all</b>	Ctrl+V Ctrl+Del <b>Ctrl+A</b>
Expand all nodes Collapse all nodes	-	Search, replace Place bookmark Go to bookmark	•
Swap tabs Show comments		Read only Smart tabs Column blocks Options	Shift+Ctrl+M

#### Fig. 45. Empty program in the ST language.

- 1. **Opening/closing of groups** by clicking on the symbol, the groups in the IEC manager opens or closes.
- 2. Local menu by right-click within the POU window are a local menu appears. Notes to some items are shown in the bottom part, in the information line of the main window.
- 3. **Program in the text editor window**. For a better orientation within the program the highlighted words are words belonging to the ST language.
- 4. Local menu by right-clicking within the Text editor window a local (context) menu will appear.

Details will be mentioned in the following text.

#### 8.1.1 ST language program example

Work with the Text editor will be shown on the following picture- use of tools from the local menu accessible by right-click within the Text editor window.

Several global variables are defined in the program as well as two function blocks which are immersed into one another. The main program calls two instances of the fbMotor function block. I.e. the function block is used twice, each time for a different variable.

```
//Program example:
VAR_GLOBAL
// inputs
SB1 AT %X0.0,
SB2 AT %X0.1,
SB3 AT %X0.2,
SB4 AT %X0.3 : BOOL;
// outputs
```

```
KM1 AT %Y0.0,
 KM2 AT %Y0.1,
 KM3 AT %Y0.2,
 KM4 AT %Y0.3 : BOOL;
END VAR
FUNCTION BLOCK fbStartStop
 VAR INPUT
             : BOOL R EDGE;
  start
   stop
            : BOOL R EDGE;
 END VAR
 VAR OUTPUT
   Output
            : BOOL;
 END VAR
 Output := (output OR start) AND NOT stop;
END FUNCTION BLOCK
//------
FUNCTION BLOCK fbMotor
 VAR INPUT
  motorStart : BOOL;
  motorStop : BOOL;
 END VAR
 VAR
            : fbStartStop;
   startStop
  motorIsRun : BOOL;
  startingTime : TON;
 END VAR
 VAR OUTPUT
            : BOOL;
   star
   triangle : BOOL;
 END VAR
 startStop(start := motorStart, stop := motorStop, output => motorIsRun);
 startingTime(IN := motorIsRun, PT := TIME#12s, Q => triangle);
 star := NOT triangle;
END FUNCTION BLOCK
//-----
                 _____
PROGRAM prgMain
 VAR
          : fbMotor;
   motor1
   motor2
             : fbMotor;
 END VAR
 motor1(motorStart := SB1, motorStop := SB2, star => KM1, triangle => KM2);
 motor2( motorStart := SB3, motorStop := SB4, star => KM3, triangle => KM4);
END PROGRAM
```

## 8.1.2 Local menu in ST text editor window

By right-click within the Text editor window a local menu appears.



## Fig. 46. Local menu in text editor

- 1. aids make creating the program easier
- 2. display in on-line mode program debugging
- 3. return of editor to previous action
- 4. editing of selected text block
- 5. search function
- 6. setting and **editor modes**

# 8.1.3 Aids making programming easier

## 8.1.3.1 IEC assistant (hotkey Ctrl+J)

Helps filling in templates of ST language building items. Minimizes number of errors which could occur by not keeping to syntax



### Fig. 47. Examples of IEC assistant look for the ST language

- 1. A list of selectable possible ST language construction will show up at the mouse cursor's position.
- 2. If a letter is already written then the list will be shortened accordingly.
- 3. An example of a generated template into which you can only fill in variables.

#### 8.1.3.2 Definition of a IEC variable (hotkey Ctrl+D)

This function helps to define a new variable in an individual dialog window

Variable definition
Variable Context
VAR_GLOBAL
Variable name 3. O System types O Eunction Blocks
ARRAY [ 01 ] OF BOOL
5.
(variable is pointer (PUBLIC))
La Absolute position AT 🛛 🖉 📖
Initialization 8.
(*BOOL*)
Incert template
Comment 9.
Add next 🚺 🖌 Cancel

Fig. 48. Example of variable definition

1. **Context of variables** – determines memory in which the variable is defined. It is possible to choose from the following:

Variable Context
VAR_INPUT
VAR_INPUT
VAR
VAR OUTPUT
VAR_IN_OUT
VAR_TEMP
VAR CONSTANT
VAR_EXTERNAL
VAR_GLOBAL
VAR_GLOBAL CONSTANT
VAR_GLOBAL RETAIN

2. **Variable type** – determines the type of a variable which can be selected from groups: Basic types, system types, user types and function blocks.

Variable type	Variable type       C Basic types       C System types       • Eunction Blocks
BOOL	fbMotor
BOOL BOOL R_EDGE BOOL F_EDGE BYTE WORD DWORD SINT INT USINT USINT UDINT	fbMotor fbStartStop CTD CTU CTUD F_TRIG RS R_TRIG SR TOF TOF TON TP
REAL LREAL TIME DATE TIME_OF_DAY DATE_AND_TIME STRING STRUCT ENUM	

- 3. *Name of variable* pink colour signals empty or not allowed name (e.g. duplicate name or reserved name).
- 4. *Array* [ ] of option for declaring a field of variables. The interval range is entered into the brackets [from .. to].
- 5. *Variable is pointer* the variable will be defined as a pointer.
- 6. {**PUBLIC**} variable will be made public in the file \*.PUB. This is a file which is created after compilation for transferring public names, e.g. for SCADA visualization. This option is allowed only if the variable is declared as global.
- 7. **Absolute AT placement** the option enables assigning a variable to an absolute address in the PLC (e.g. %X, %Y, %R, or to another global alias, e.g. to a different peripheral module or other variable). It is possible to fill in the field by manually or by clicking on the button with the three dots Variable selection. This option is allowed only if the variable is declared as global.
- 8. *Initialization* this field enables writing an initialization value of a variable. After mouse click "Insert template" is offered. The template describes the structure of a relevant variable and types of individual items for initialization. Just fill in the values.
- 9. Notes Enables adding a note to every variable
- 10. Dialog confirm by clicking on **OK**

#### **8.1.3.3 Inserting a IEC variable into the text** (hotkey Shift+Ctrl+V)

This function helps find and insert a previously defined variable via selection in tree structure.



### Fig. 49. Example of variable insert

1. It is possible to choose the variable area in the tabs:

*Local* -variables defined in POU which are edited.

*Global* -global variables visible in whole program

*Libraries* -global variables which have definitions transferred from libraries (e.g. SysLib)

2. Left-click selects an item in the tree and confirm by clicking on OK.

#### 8.1.3.4 IEC code support (hotkey Ctrl+Space)

This function helps insert an earlier defined function block instance, defined global variables, function, etc. into the text. A list will open at the position of the cursor. Gradual entering of letters will narrow the search. (e.g. if the text contains "mo" then only FB beginning with "mo" will be shown.)

11													
PROG	RAM or	oMain											
Ue	R	3											
	motor1	-	£bMo	tore									
	MOCOL I	•	I DITO	,									
	motor2	:	f b Mo	tor;									
	motor3	:	fbMo	tor;									
EN	ID VAR			-									
MO	tor1(	motorSta	't :=	SB1.	motorStop	:=	SB2.	star	=>	КМ1.	triangle	=>	KM2);
MO	otor2(	motorSta	't :=	SB3,	motorStop	:=	SB4,	star	=>	кмз,	trianqle	=>	KM4);
MO	)			-			-			-	-		
	fun. block	moto	r <b>1</b> : fbMc	otor									
END	fun. block	moto	г <b>2</b> : fbМo	otor									
_	fun, block	moto	г <b>З</b> : fbМo	otor									
	function	MOD	: ANY I	NT									
			-										
							-						

### Fig. 50. Example of an inserted function block in ST

If the selected variables are of the structure type, then a menu with other structure members will open during the next step a level lower separated by a dot.

If a function block is selected then the manner its calling or parameters behind the dot are shown.

```
11-----
                                   _____
PROGRAM prqMain
 VAR
               : fbMotor;
    motor1
               : fbMotor:
    motor2
    motor3
                : fbMotor;
  END_VAR
  motor1( motorStart := SB1, motorStop := SB2, star => KM1, triangle => KM2);
  motor2( motorStart := SB3, motorStop := SB4, star => KM3, triangle => KM4);
  motor3(
       Parameter
                  motor3.
END_PROG Complete call
                  motor3()
        Call
                  motor3 [
```

Fig. 51. Example of function block insert in ST

**Parameter** chooses one of the parameters of the function block separated by a dot

Careful! Access to specific parameters does not call the function block. Every function block must be called at least once to be executed!

**Complete calling** writes the complete FB calling with all parameters and their type.

motor2(motorStart := (\*BOOL\*), motorStop := (\*BOOL\*), star => (\*BOOL\*));

Random parameters can be deleted or transferred variables/parameters or values can be added to them. The parameter type is stated in a form of an inserted note (\*...\*). Parameters deleted from the list get default values or they can be placed in a different part of the program by setting them as a separate parameter.

**Calling** enables gradual recording of each parameter, filling in their values and after entering a separation point and pressing the hotkey Ctrl+space, the rest of the unassigned values are shown. All parameters do not have to be defined at the place of calling.

//									
PROCRAM DE	nMain								
	gnain								
VAK									
motor1	:	fbMotor;							
motor2	:	fbMotor:							
motor3		fhMotor:							
	-	, ,							
EUD_AHV									
motor1( i	motorStar	t := SB1,	motorStop	:= SB2,	star =	> KM1,	triangle	=> KM2):	;
motor2( i	motorStar	t := SB3,	motorStop	:= SB4,	star =	> KM3,	trianqle	=> KM4)	;
motor3(							-		
V	AR_INPUT	motorStart :	BOOL		<b>A</b>				
END PROGR	AR_INPUT	motorStop :	BOOL						
V/	AR_OUTPUT	star : BOOL							
	AR OUTPUT	triangle : BOI	OL		-				

*Fig. 52.* Example of inserting an unassigned parameter of a function block in *ST* 

### 8.2 **Program in instruction list language**

It is recommended to study the guidebook *PLC programming according to IEC 61 131-3 Mosaic* TXV 003 21 chap. 4.1 for detailed information. A new IL language source text is best created using the IEC manager where by using the local menu a new POU can be added and the IL language selected. The file can also be opened via the main menu "File/New/New file.." or by using the hotkey Ctrl+N.

By confirming the following question the file will be added to the project compilation.



#### Fig. 53. Request to include file into project.

After entering a name with the suffix \*.IL an "IL editor" opens. Now we can randomly write a declaration of variables and POU body. Basic controls are accessible via right-click within the editor area.

#### 8.2.1 Program example in IL

The function block on the following picture is entered in the IL language and has several input variables defined and calls the internal function block fbMotor, which he transfers data to.

🔆 Mosaic - C:\TecoApp\SkupinaPLC.n	ipr: Plc1	_ 8 ×					
😼 File Edit Search View Project	Program PLC Debug Tools Help 🛛 🛈 🕂 🛛 😯 🔂						
😂 🖬 🕼 🗳 👔 🖆 🗳 😩 💿 💊 🧳 🚺 🗖 🖬 🖬 🖬 🖬 🖬 🖬 🖬							
<b>1</b> 🖉 🖉 🖉	1: prgMain.ST 2: Plc1.mcf 3: HWConfig.ST 4: fblL.IL 5: PLC1.ST 6: FB.st						
	<pre>1:prgMain.ST 2:Ple1.mef 3:HWConfig.ST 4:HBLLL 5:PLCT.ST 6:FB.st FUNCTION_BLOCK Fb_St_St_IL UAR_INPUT In1 :: BOOL; StartMot :: BOOL; StartMot :: BOOL; END_UAR UAR mot1 :: fbMotor; END_UAR UAR UAR_OUTPUT relay :: BOOL; Star :: BOOL; Triangle :: BUOL; END_UAR UAR_TEMP END_UAR LD In1 // start OR relay // back contact ANDN In2 // stop ST relay LD StartMot ST mot1.motorStart LD StartMot ST mot1.motorStart LD mot1.star ST Star LD mot1.triangle ST Triangle</pre>						
Functions	END_FUNCTION_BLOCK	<b>_</b>					
		Þ					
	N						

Fig. 54. Example of writing a function block in IL

# 8.3 Text editor of general Txt texts

For editing general texts with the suffix \*.txt the Txt text editor is used. It does not use

highlighted syntax and has a suppressed support tools option. Such a created text is not recommended to be included into the project compilation.

1* File	e1.txt
	Hello World <b>!!</b>
	my text my <mark>text</mark> my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text my text

Fig. 55. Example of Txt editor

# 8.4 xPro native code text editor

It is used for the native mnemonic code language of Tecomat systems. The editor ensures the highlighted lines according to language syntax. It is opened docked into the main panel by default and has files with the suffixes: \*.mos, \*.mas, \*.950, etc. It ensures compatibility with older Tecomat systems. It is mainly used for service and maintenance of these older systems. It only supports a tool for inserting variables. When keeping to a correct syntax, such a code can then be included into the project's compilation. This combination is not recommended due to system access and future serviceability of such project.

1: Mnemo.mos				
;Examp	ple			
P U		9044-9	. vogistov	
	ORC	2X8_1	; register : innut	
	WR	2Y12.5	; output	
E Ø			•	

Fig. 56. Example of recorded program in a mnemonic code language

# 9. GRAPHIC EDITORS

*LD* editor is used for the graphic ladder diagram with relay contacts. (\*.ld) *FBD* editor is used for the graphic language of function blocks. (\*.fbd) *SFC* editor (in preparation) used for creating transfer diagrams. (\*.sfc) *CFC* editor (in preparation) used for drawing floating diagrams. (\*.cfc)

# 9.1 LD editor (Ladder Diagram)

It is recommended to study the guidebook *PLC programming according to IEC 61 131-3 Mosaic* TXV 003 21 chap. 5 for detailed information.

It is intended for editing programs in the ladder diagram language, i.e. with relay contacts in accordance with the definition and syntax of standard IEC 61131-3.

An empty circuit is created by a start and finish bus. The basic circuit rail is located between them and items are placed on it. The items are inserted in a fixed grid with a maximum width of 12 characters. When a larger number of grids are used, the area expands to the right. The spacing of the grids can be changed via the keys Plus/Minus or the icons

When drawing the program, it is recommended to think about the future program report and not unnecessarily create wide circuits and rather insert an inductor, i.e. supporting internal variable and carry on in the next circuit.

New empty circuits/rails are added via local menu option (right-mouse click). Circuits and rails are numbers using a four digit code from 0001 to 9999 within one POU. By double-clicking on the circuit number a dialog window for creating/editing names of labels will open. Labels are used as target points for jump orders. Notes can be entered on the following coloured lines. These notes can be edited by double-mouse click.

According to the IEC standard, every POU must contain an interface, i.e. text declaration part and action part. Variables necessary for the POU's running are defined in the POU declaration part. The action part then contains the commands for executing the algorithm. The interface, i.e. declaration is by default hidden in the LD editor. But it can be opened via:

- ♦ key (Ctrl+H)
- ♦ icon □,
- from local menu.

It is possible to switch between the interface window and action part (Shift+Tab), or by clicking on the requested window. It is possible to directly edit text of local variables or use the IEC manager services in the declaration part.

The order priority of execution of orders is from top to bottom, from left to right. I.e. if a POU parameter is executed in a different circuit only after calling the POU, i.e. at the bottom of the diagram, the default value (usually 0) is used during the first run and only then is a new value used.

9. Graphic editors

Fig. 57. Controls layout in LD editor

- 1. LD editor controls
- 2. LD editor working area
- 3. Local menu appears after right-mouse click within editor.
- 4. The 🔌 icon signalizes the "Editing" mode. By clicking on 🀲 it changes to "debugging" and vice versa. Debugging will be addressed in a following chapter.

# 9.1.1 LD editor controls

Font size (Ctrl+Plus / Minus) (middle-mouse click, then scroll)

Cursor (Esc) – finish of editing

- H Open contact into series: insert on mark □, parallel: on mark □
- H
   Closed contact
   − into series: insert on mark
   □, parallel: on mark
   □
- Positive edge sensing contact into series: insert on mark  $\Box$ , parallel: on mark  $\Box$
- ₩ Negative edge sensing contact into series: insert on mark □, parallel: on mark □
- O Coil into series: insert on mark □, parallel: on mark □
- Coil negated into series: insert on mark  $\blacksquare$  , parallel: on mark  $\blacksquare$
- Set coil into series: insert on mark □ , parallel: on mark □
- 🕫 Reset coil 🛛 into series: insert on mark 🛛 , parallel: on mark 🗍
- Image: Provide the second second
- ✤ Conditioned jump on label insert on mark
- Conditioned return from POU insert on mark

- Insert box with function block or function insert on mark □
- Insert from clipboard (Ctrl+V) into series: insert on mark  $\square$  , parallel: on mark  $\square$
- Copy to clipboard (Ctrl+C) –selected item or block
- Cut to clipboard (Ctrl+X) –selected item or block
- Back (Ctrl+Z) -
- Cancel back (Shift+Ctrl+Z)
- Reduce grid (Minus)
- Enlarge grid (Plus)
- Refresh display
- Display / hide interface editor (Ctrl+H)
- Lisplay / hide notes
- I Display / hide data type



Fig. 58. Example of working area in LD editor during editing work

- Block selection Left-mouse click and then dragging it from one corner to the other marks the diagram block (grey background) after realizing the left-mouse button. If it is necessary to add further diagram items to the marked block, then by simultaneously pressing Shift and left-click can a marked block be enlarged.
- 2. Inserted contact <sup>++</sup> is chosen by mouse
- 3. By clicking on the mark  $\Box$ , the contact will be inserted into the series, into the marked block or item in the circuit.
- 4. Or by clicking on the mark block or item in the circuit.
- 5. It is possible to copy 📴 or cut 💐 the marked block into the clipboard. The block can

then by inserted 😟 from the clipboard into a random coloured mark.

- 6. Using the Del icon  $\mathbf{X}$ , the items marked with the marks  $\mathbf{D}$ , or  $\mathbf{D}$  can be deleted.
- 7. Left-click and dragging and dropping the marked block to a random position marked by the marks  $\Box$ , or  $\Box$  are possible. A block can be dragged and dropped into a different
  - circuit. It is possible to setup in the local menu whether the dragged block will be relocated or copied.

# 9.1.2 Editing contact name - operand



Fig. 59. Example of dialog window for editing operands

- 1. If a new contact is inserted a dialog window will open for entering the name of the operand. This dialog is also opened upon double-click on an already existing operand.
- 2. It is possible to directly write in the name. If this name is not yet defined then another dialog window opens for defining the new variable.
- 3. By pressing the button a dialog window will open for selecting an already defined name.

# 9.1.3 Inserting or editing a box in LD

A box is a graphic item of a diagram visualizing the POU. Generally every box with a function or function block has signals with input variables or constants attached to its input parameters.

A box can also have output variables or input parameters of another box connected to its output parameters.

A box with a function block has a light blue colour a block with a function has a light green colour.

1* prgMain.LD 2: PLC_loader1.mcf	ر <sup>L</sup>	
8 💌   🔭 +1+ +1+ +() +(	• (3) (4) 다 -> <>> 💶 🗮 🗮 🛯 🛤 🚑 👌 🤤 🖕 😓 😒 🗖 🏭	
	Box editor	×
0001	Name Dim3 DK	
SB1 SB2 SB4 SB4 SB4 SB4 CO02 C	Comment Cancel POU group Cube CTU CTU CTU CTU CTU CTU CTU CTU F_TRIG R_TRIG String Inf Counter/Timer String Inf Conversion F Variable definition Variable Context VAR Variable Context VAR Variable name Variable type time TON Variable name Variable type time Conversion Variable context Conversion	pool- IN Q time- PT ET time

*Fig. 60. Example of inserting a box with a function block* 



Fig. 61. Example of editing a box with a function

- 1. First:
  - ♦ Choose an icon for inputting into the box. The marks □ and □ will show in the diagram for inserting items. Choose a mark where the new box will be inserted.
  - Or double-click on an existing box which you want to edit.
- 2. The "Box editor" will open
- 3. Choose the requested **POU group**. Groups are ordered according to their function character
- 4. Select the requested POU from the list
- 5. Each POU has to have at least one bool type input and output, in the LD language, so that we can connect it into the circuit.

If the POU does not have such input and output, then we can use the optional inputs/outputs EN/ENO. The EN input works as a condition for POU performance, if it is

false, then the POU does not perform. The ENO output copies the EN input.

6. Every function block instance requires its name, function do not require names.

Caution: Repeated callings of a function block with the same name is possible however this can lead to the unpredictable behavior of the function block. It is always necessary to consider this, because the same internal variables inside one function block instance are affected by two places in the program !!!

- 7. A **short help** is shown in the bottom window if stated in the function block definition.
- 8. **Insertion** is done by pressing the OK button.
- 9. If the name of a variable is not yet created the dialog window "Variable definition" will open.
- 10. The context of the variable where the instance will be created can be selected in this dialog.
- 11. After confirmation the instance is created in a local, global or retain memory.

## 9.1.4 Inserting and editing operands at inputs/outputs in parameter boxes

Generally every box with a function or function block has signals with input variables or constants attached to its input parameters.

A box can also have output variables or input parameters of another box connected to its output parameters.



### Fig. 62. Example of editing operands upon box input

- 1. Double-click on the input/output box or a name of an already existing signal the dialog window "**Operand**" will open.
- 2. Fill in the name. It can be a variable or even a constant.
- 3. Or by pressing the button a dialog window will open for selecting an already defined name.
- 4. It is possible to add a **local note** to an operand.
- 5. For Bool type operands, it is possible to use negation in this dialog
- 6. The insertion is done by pressing OK.

## 9.1.5 Local menu in LD editor desktop

Right-click within the LD editor will open a local menu. The names of each item sufficiently describe their purpose.

Create network in front of Create network behind Delete network Comment network	
Set context F11 Text Alt+F5	
Goto network Interface editor Shift+Tab IEC Manager Ctrl+I	
Show/hide interface editor Ctrl+H Show comments Show data types	
Raster 🔸	Raster Show/Hide
<ul> <li>Delete origin after drag &amp; drop</li> <li>Options</li> </ul>	Decrease raster width Increase raster width

Fig. 63. Local menu in LD editor area

# 9.1.6 Hotkeys in LD editor area

It is also possible to use hotkeys in the LD editor window.

- The "**Tab**" button switches between editing icons
- () (\$) ⊡· →> <>> □ □ ↓
- ◆ **The arrows** help set the cursor onto the mark □ or □
- the "Insert" key executes a selected operation
- the "**Del**" key deletes an item in a diagram on the cursor position
- the "Enter" key switches to item editing in diagram upon cursor and the "Tab" key switches between items of the editing dialog window and the keyboard arrows change the selection of items if possible. The "Enter" key confirms the selected choice.
- the " / " key negates a contact, changes inductor type or negates box signal
- the "Esc" key ends work with editing icons
- ♦ keys "Ctrl+Z" and "Shift+Ctrl+Z" enable going back or canceling going back within editing if compilation had not been done.
- keys "Ctrl+Tab" and "Shift+Ctrl+Tab" switch forward/backwards between windows, one after another, of open editors
- keys "F6" and "Shift+F6" switch forward/backwards between windows, in the order they were last active, of open editors.

A list and description of all hotkeys is listed in appendix "Key commands" at the end of this document.

# 9.2 FBD editor (Function Block Diagram)

It is recommended to study the guidebook *PLC programming according to IEC 61 131-3 Mosaic* TXV 003 21 chap. 5 for detailed information.

It is intended for editing programs in the function block language, in accordance with the definition and syntax of standard IEC 61131-3.

An empty circuit is created by a start line on which circuit items are gradually placed, i.e. names of signals and function blocks (FB).

The items are inserted in a fixed grid with a maximum width of 12 characters. When a larger number of grids is used, the area expands to the right. The spacing of the grids can be changed via the keys Plus/Minus or the icons

When drawing the program, it is recommended to think about the future program report and not unnecessarily create wide circuits and rather insert a supporting internal variable and carry on in the next circuit.

New empty circuits are added via local menu option. Circuits and rails are numbered using a four digit code from 0001 to 9999 within one POU. By double-clicking on the circuit number a dialog window for editing names of labels will open. Labels are used as target points for jump orders. Notes can be entered on the following coloured lines. These notes can be edited by double-mouse click.

According to the IEC standard, every POU must contain an interface, i.e. text declaration part and action part. The interface in the LD editor is by default hidden and can be opened using the hotkey (Ctrl+H) or the icon , or via the local menu. It is possible to directly edit text of local variables in the declaration part using the benefits of the IEC manager services.

The action part then contains own commands for the execution of the requested algorithm. It is possible to switch between the interface window and action part (Shift+Tab), or by clicking on the requested window. The order priority of execution of orders is from top to bottom, from left to right. I.e. if a POU parameter is executed in a different circuit only after calling the POU, i.e. at the bottom of the diagram, the default value (usually 0) is used during the first run and only then is a new value used.

1: prgMain.LD 2: PLC_load	ler1.mcf 3* TestFBD.FBD
9 🖌 🗼 🗖	≫ ∞ ┺ 🕵 Ӿ │ 鴄 總 │ 🤊 🕈 │ 🚑 😓 │ 🍪 🗄 盐 다 다 │ 📜
0001	2
	3. Create network in front of Create network behind Delete network Comment network Set context F11 Text Alt+F5 Goto network Interface editor Shift+Tab IEC Manager Ctrl+I Show/hide interface editor Ctrl+H Show comments Box output at the bottom Show data types Raster Delete origin after drag & drop Options

Fig. 64. Controls layout in FBD editor.

- 1. FBD editor controls
- 2. FBD editor working area
- 3. Local menu appears after right-mouse click within editor.
- 4. The 🔌 icon signalizes the "Editing" mode. By clicking on 🐲 it changes to "debugging" and vice versa. Debugging will be addressed in a following chapter.

# 9.2.1 FBD editor controls

Font size (Ctrl+Plus / Minus) (middle-mouse click, then scroll)

- Cursor (Esc) finish of editing
- └─ Insert output variable insert on mark □
- → Insert conditioned jump on label insert on mark
- Insert conditioned return from POU insert on mark
- Insert box with function block or function insert on mark
- Insert from clipboard (Ctrl+V) insert on mark
- 🔀 Delete (Del) on mark 🛛 or 🛛
- Copy to clipboard (Ctrl+C) –selected item or block
- Cut to clipboard (Ctrl+X) –selected item or block
- Back (Ctrl+Z) -
- Cancel back (Shift+Ctrl+Z)
- Reduce grid (Minus)

- Enlarge grid (Plus)
- Refresh display
- Display / hide interface editor (Ctrl+H)
- Lisplay / hide notes
- Display / hide data type
- Box output top / bottom



### Fig. 65. Example of working area in FBD editor during editing work.

- 1. Left-mouse click and then dragging it from one corner to the other marks the diagram block (grey background) after realizing the left-mouse button. If it is necessary to add further diagram items to the marked block, then by simultaneously pressing Shift and left-click can a marked block be enlarged.
- 2. Select box insertion <sup>1</sup> by mouse, select FB or function in editor box
- 3. By clicking on the mark I , the block will be inserted into the marked block or item in the circuit.
- 4. It is possible to copy is or cut it the marked block into the clipboard. The block can then by inserted into a random coloured mark.
- 5. Using the Del icon  $\stackrel{\textbf{X}}{=}$  the items marked with the marks  $\square$ , or  $\square$  can be deleted.
- 6. Left-click and dragging and dropping the marked block to a random position marked by the marks  $\Box$ , or  $\Box$  is possible. A block can be dragged and dropped into a different

circuit. It is possible to setup in the local menu whether the dragged block will be relocated or copied.

## 9.2.2 Operand editing

1* prgMain.LD 2* 1	estFBD.FBD	3: myFCE.ST	4: myFB.ST   5: 1	FestCFC.CFC		
8 🖌 🗎 📐	ᡄ᠉᠂	«» 🗗 🕵 🏅	🗲   🖳 🤐	<b>'9 🕈</b>   ‡	. 🗔   😵	▤≛⊉ጬ│
Comment						
	timl					
aaa	TON IN Q		6	kkł	=21:+	0ut1
T#10s	PT ET	tm_timl				
	tim2	Operand				×
1	TON IN Q	N <u>a</u> me	ddd			
	PT ET	-	<u> </u>		2	
	tim3	Lomment	Impor			
	TON				0 <u>K</u>	Cancel
T#10s	PT ET	tm_tim3		]		

Fig. 66. Example of a dialog window for editing operands in FBD

- 1. Double-click on signal opens a dialog window for filling in the name of the operand.
- 2. It is possible to directly write in the name. If this name is not yet defined then another dialog window opens for defining the new variable.
- 3. By pressing the button a dialog window will open for selecting an already defined name.

### 9.2.3 Inserting or editing a box in FBD

A box is a graphic item of a diagram visualizing the POU. Generally every box with a function or function block has signals with input variables or constants attached to its input parameters.

A box can also have output variables or input parameters of another box connected to its output parameters.

A box with a function block has a light blue colour a block with a function has a light green colour.







Fig. 68. Example of editing a box with a function block

1. First:

- ♦ Choose an icon for inputting into the box. The marks □ and □ will show in the diagram for inserting items. Choose a mark where the new box will be inserted.
- Or double-click on an existing box which you want to edit.
- 2. The "Box editor" will open

- 3. Choose the requested **POU group**. Groups are ordered according to their function character
- 4. Select the requested POU from the list
- 5. You can use the optional EN/ENO inputs/outputs in the FBD language. The EN input works as a condition for POU performance, if it is false, then the POU does not perform. The ENO output copies the EN input.
- 6. Every function block instance requires its name, function do not require names.

Caution: Repeated callings of a function block with the same name is possible however this can lead to the unpredictable behavior of the function block. It is always necessary to consider this, because the same internal variables inside one function block instance are affected by two places in the program !!!

- 7. A **short help** is shown in the bottom window if stated in the function block definition.
- 8. **Insertion** is done by pressing the OK button.
- 9. If the name of a variable is not yet created the dialog window "Variable definition" will open.
- 10. The context of the variable where the instance will be created can be selected in this dialog.
- 11. After confirmation the instance is created in a local, global or retain memory.

# 9.2.4 Local menu within FBD editor desktop

Right-click within the LD editor will open a local menu. The names of each item sufficiently describe their purpose.

Create network in front of	
Create network behind	
Delete network	
Comment network	
Set context	F11
Text All	:+F5
Goto network	•
Interface editor Shift-	⊦Tab
IEC Manager C	trl+I
Show/hide interface editor Ct	:rl+H
Show comments	
Box output at the bottom	
Show data types	
Raster	•
✓ Delete origin after drag & drop	
Options	

Fig. 69. Local menu in FBD editor area
#### 9.2.5 Hotkeys in FBD editor area

It is also possible to use hotkeys in the FBD editor window.

- The "Tab" button switches between editing icons
- 🖕 ㄷ →> ‹<> 非 🔃 💥
- ◆ The arrows help set the cursor onto the mark □
- the "**Insert**" key executes a selected operation
- the "**Del**" key deletes an item in a diagram on the cursor position
- the "Enter" key switches to item editing in diagram upon cursor and the "Tab" key switches between items of the editing dialog window and the keyboard arrows change the selection of items if possible. The "Enter" key confirms the selected choice.
- the " / " key negates a contact, changes inductor type or negates box signal
- the "Esc" key ends work with editing icons
- ♦ keys "Ctrl+Z" and "Shift+Ctrl+Z" enable going back or canceling going back within editing if compilation had not been done.
- keys "Ctrl+Tab" and "Shift+Ctrl+Tab" switch forward/backwards between windows, one after another, of open editors
- keys "F6" and "Shift+F6" switch forward/backwards between windows, in the order they were last active, of open editors.

A list and description of all hotkeys is listed in appendix "Key commands" at the end of this document.

## 9.3 SFC editor (in preparation) (Sequential Function Chart)

Creating Sequential Function Charts.

## 9.4 Editor CFC (in preparation) (Continuous Flow Chart)

Graphic visualization of Continuous Flow Charts.

## 10. OTHER TOOLS FOR AUTOMATIC PROGRAM CODE GENERATING

#### 10.1 PIDMaker

肉

is a visual addition of PLC instruction used for the easy implementation, tuning and management of regulation algorithms. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is docked in the left panel. The main window shows the graphic regulator, or graph. It automatically generates a program part for PID regulators. (See document TXV 003 26)



Fig. 70. Example of PIDMaker display

#### 10.2 PanelMaker

2

is intended for defining display contents for text operator panels. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is docked in the main panel. It automatically generates parts of program codes for HMI text panel operation.

#### Attention!

The function is available **only if** the text panel ID-XX is connected, in correct mode, to a selected communication channel in the "Project Manager|HW| Network\_PLC-logic connection". The option for using this tool must be checked in the settings (See document TXV 003 25).



Fig. 71. Example of PanelMaker display

# 11. TOOLS FOR MANAGING PROJECTS

Tools for managing projects are located in the left window. Which tool will be available in the left window is selected in the tabs at the top of the window. Icons displayed depend on the type of tool available in the upper tab.

The following tables describe the graphic icons of the following tools:



- 1 Change order of compiled files in project, move up
- **↓** Change order of compiled files in project, move down

## 11.1 Project groups

ø

Clicking on this tab will show the names of all project groups in the current folder as well as the names of their projects.

It enables easy switching between projects by double-clicking on the project group name or the name of a project. The following picture shows an example of project group display.

Active project group is coloured light blue and a currently opened project is marked with a black dot. By clicking on the name of a different project group will make it go dark and the names of its projects will be shown in a coloured field where the last active project will be marked with a triangle.

<b>1</b>	
🖆 🖆 😫 🗡	
Sieber         .           SkupinaPLC         •           • PLC_loader         •           • PLC_loader1         •           • PLC_loader2         •	•
Malt_plant_Lit SMS Plc1 ► TC35_CP7001_EXAMPLE_MOS TC35_CP7002 TC35_CPM2B Test_uni_CP7002	
Softe SoftPLCexample	

Fig. 72. Example of project group display

### 11.2 Files in a project

The tab is used as an overview of project files (1.) which are included in the compilation. It enables changing their order in which they will be compiled. It is possible to manually shift the files up and down, add and remove from the project. Usually the files are added automatically to the project by e.g. the IEC manager. The second half of the window is used for a list of related files (2.), which are note intended for compilation, but they are important for the programmer and it is convenient to be able to open them from the editor window. In this part of the window, after right-click, a local menu (3.) for adding and removing related files from and to the list will open.

<b>d</b> 🗳 🔁	
🖸 🖆 🚺 🏦 🖡 👖	
PLC_LOADER1.MAK DeklarPT.mos (PanelMaker\) HWConfig.ST (SysGen\) PLC_loader1.hwc (SysGen\) SkupinaPLC.hwn (\)	
	┚
Name Location 2.	וב
TestCFC.CFC C:\TecoApp\Skupii	na
Open related file Enter	
Add related file Ins	3
Remove related file Del	Л

Fig. 73. Example of local menu display of files in a project (3.)

## 11.3 Open files

The tab displays a list of open files and paths to their location (1.). The bottom half shows a list of open floating windows (2.). It is opened automatically and by default

## docked in the left panel.

1 4 6 4	1.
Name	Location
DeklarPT.mos myFB.ST myFCE.ST myIL.IL PLC_LOADER1.ST prgMain.LD TestFBD.FBD TestFBD.FBD TestFBD2.FBD	C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S C:\TECOAPP\S
IEC Part list User registers map Project manager Mosaic - C:\TecoApp PIDMaker Panel Simulation	2. \SkupinaPLC.mpr

## **12. PROGRAM COMPILATION**

## 12.1 Compilation of program in project

- ♦ F9 Program compilation
- Program saved to PLC ♦ Shift F9
- Program runs in PLC after changing mode to RUN ♦ Ctrl F9

A program in the project can be compiled by pressing F9 (or clicking on the compilation icon). The behavior of the compiler is managed by the file with the suffix .mak, i.e. "project name.mak". Parts of the source files in it are organized in such an order in which they will be compiled. It is necessary to say, that the compiler is a "single-pass" program. I.e. all names needed for the compilation must be declared earlier than they will be used. That is why it is necessary to have the file with the name declarations compiled first. Files are not automatically put into order during standard procedures. It is possible to change the order of files for the compilation as described in the tool "Files in a project" (chapter 11.2., top) in case an "Unknown variable declaratory" error occurs during compilation. This however occurs rarely.

If an error or errors are found during the program compilation the error message will show in the Message window and the editor will move the cursor to the line with the error.

Alerts are also displayed in the Message window which can warn before a programmer mistake!

The result of a compilation is displayed in a special window where information about the result of the compilation are stated.

C	ompiling							
	Project:	C:\\	PLC_LOAD	ER1\PLC_L	OADER1.P	LC		
	Done: No errors.							
	Current L	ine:		Total Lines	:	2880		
	Code:	2490 bytes	Warnings:	0	Errors:	0		
	 ОК							

#### **Program compilation** Fig. 74.

The resulting code after a successful compilation can be sent to the PLC using the hotkey Shift+F9. The PLC will be set to "Halt" and will stop controlling connected equipment. You have to manually switch to RUN.

Directly clicking on the icon O or using the hotkey Ctrl+F9 will set the PLC into RUN mode. If the newly compiled program is not yet saved in the PLC the following message will show.

#### Getting started with Mosaic

Confirmation			×
Code	not sent yet. S	end it?	
Yes	No	Cancel	

#### Fig. 75. Sending program code into PLC

In this case the PLC is halted only for the time needed for the new program to be transferred into the PLC. The PLC then resets itself in the manner requested (see restart types in chapter 5.5.1).

### 12.2 ON-LINE programming

If it is necessary to change the program in the PLC without halting its activity then the mode "Online program changes" 🖗 must be activated. This mode is described in the document TXV 003 42.

The code is

- Transferred into the PLC buffer,
- then data are recalculated between cycles in the notepad memory
- the following cycle is run with a new program i.e. without "shock", i.e. without stopping the controlling of the PLC during the time of saving the program in the PLC.

Project:	C:\				
Done:	No errors.				
Changes co	de:			44	bytes
Variables:	New:	1	Changed:		0
	Deleted:	0	Moved:		1

#### Fig. 76. Dialog window of online changes before program code is sent to PLC

After sending the program change the environment is automatically switched to debugging mode in the PLC

### 12.3 Generating a library from a project

- It is first necessary to set the PLC (or simulator PLCv) to HALT mode by clicking on the icon before a library can be generated.
- ♦ It is necessary to select files in the tool "Files in project" (chapter 11.2., top) which contain declarations and definitions from which we want to create a library. This is enabled using the option "Include file into library" in the local menu. The selected files are then marked with the icon <sup>1</sup>/<sub>1</sub>
  - It is necessary to set the name of the library, version, sub-version and build in the

project manager	(see chapte	r 5.4.1).
-----------------	-------------	-----------

Project manager					
PLC Address: 0	.L. ∐se	🔽 Use editor fo	ont		
Connection type: Simulated PL	1001				
⊕ Common settings	Program name:	PL	.C_loader1	Version: 5 🚔	Subversion: 🛛 🕹 🚔
Ė∾ Hw				_	
- Select type of PLC series	Library name:		myLibrary		Build: 20090525
HW Configuration					
PLC Network - logical conr	Project name:		MyProject		
⊡-Sw			, 		
Program	Programmer's nam	ne:	Pet		
- Com			-		
- Compiler	Firm name:		leco a.s.		
Sending files to PLC			T (-) 4000 0000		
Environment	Copyright:		1eco (c) 1990 - 2009		
			This program can be designed accord	ding to the IEC 61121	international standard
	History		This program can be designed accom		international stanuaru

Fig. 77. Dialog window for setting the name of an own library

 For saving a library as a file to the disk we must got to the main roll-out menu File where we will find the option "Save project as library" and so we can finish the creation of our user library

🛟 M	osaic	- C:\]	ГесоАрр	\Skup	oinaPLC.r	npr: F	PI
-	File	Edit	Search	View	Project	Prog	r
] 🖨	P	Vew				▶⊒	5
3	🚅 (	)pen.			Ctrl+	о М	18
	<b>f</b>	Open p	roject gro	oup	Ctrl+F1	1	
·	F	Reoper	٦				Ŷ
÷	🤹 (	Archivii	ng			) e	z
	<b>i i i i</b> i	5ave p	roject as	library.			•
		5ave			Ctrl+	s	
		5ave a	s				
	<b>G</b> :	5ave a	I				

Fig. 78. Creating an own library

 The compiler will create a compilation and the library is saved to a pre-defined folder ..\ Mosaic\LIB. It is now possible to use this library in other projects.



Fig. 79. Report about creating own library

### 12.4 Library dependency

When a programmer is preparing a project in which he will be creating his own library,

then he can set an option for the other included libraries "Switch on dependency to library". The following picture contains a local menu (1.) in which it is possible to switch on the attribute for library dependency (2.). During compilation and the generating of a new library, the dependent library will be connected with all of its declarations to the new library.

If you use a new library, you will have all the functions at one place and you do not need to, it is also forbidden to, add this dependent library add this library to may project, because its functions and other declarations would be defined double.

It is better, from the point of view of use of newer version of libraries in new projects, to not activate the library dependency option and to include the libraries individually. The dependency option is by default switched off.



Fig. 80. Switching on dependency of own library on a different library

## **13. PROGRAM DEBUGGING**

Checking the functionality of a written control algorithm is called "program debugging". Mosiac is equipped with several tools, as already mentioned in chapter 4. The basic debugging tool is the "**POU Inspector**" which is used for a preview of the program when the PLC is in RUN mode. The source program from the editor is animated by actual values so that the programmer can monitor the correctness of the recorded function. The POU inspector has its look optimized depending on used language.

## 13.1 POU inspector in ST language



Fig. 81. Program debugging in ST language

## 13.2 POU inspector in IL language

1 2 4 1	1: prgMain.ST 2: PLC1.ST 3: FB.st	4: fblL.IL	
😰 • 📳 🗱 • 🗿	Active 🖉 📴 🔂 🖬	活合 🔲 • 💽 🖕 塩 🗄 🕒 !	*
Wain : prgMain            •: ■: motor1 : fbMotor             •: ■: motor2 : fbMotor             •: ■: St_St_: fb_St_St_IL             •: ■: mot1 : fbMotor             •: ■: mot1 : fbMotor             •: ■: Lubric : fb_Lubrication	LD OR ANDN ST LD ST LD ST LD ST LD ST LD ST LD ST END_FUNCTION_BLOCK **	In1// startrelay// back contactIn2// stoprelay// relayStartMotmot1.motorStartStopMotmot1.motorStopmot1// calling FBmot1.starStarStarmot1.triangleTriangle	<ul> <li>In1=0 relay=0 In2=0 relay=0 - StartMot=0 mot1.motorStart=0 StopMot=0 mot1.motorStop=0 - mot1.star=1 Star=1 mot1.triangle=0 Triangle=0 - -</li> </ul>

Fig. 82. Program debugging in IL language

## 13.3 POU inspector in LD language



Fig. 83. Program debugging in LD language

## 13.4 POU inspector in FBD language



Fig. 84. Program debugging in FBD language

## 13.5 Debugging in mnemocode language



Fig. 85. Program debugging in mnemocode language

## 14. OTHER TOOLS FOR DEBUGGING AND SIMULATING

#### 14.1 WebMaker

this icon launches the WebMaker – a tool used for:

- creating XML pages for web servers in central and basic modules which support this function (CP7004 in series TC700 and all FOXTROT modules).
- for displaying and comfortably setting selected program variables.

It works as a simple visualization and is suitable for debugging of algorithms of controlling equipment during simulations. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is docked in the main panel. (See document TXV 003 28)



Fig. 86. Example of WebMaker display

### 14.2 GraphMaker

2

The tool is used for graphically displaying up to 16 behaviors of PLC (two states even joint) variables in the format of a time graph:

- as a memory oscilloscope displaying current events with sampling which is given by the minimal speed between a PC and a PLC and a maximum time of 3600.0 sec.
- as a logic and signal analyzer with a display of events which happened in the past, before and after a condition defined by the user himself. Sampling can be set to a minimal PLC cycle length and or maximum of 655,35 sec.

It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is docked in the main panel. Details can be found in the document TXV 003 27.

Series manager       Command       File       Measuring       Axes       View       About plug-in         Image:	🛟 GraphMaker								
Image: System SLZ       Image: Sustem SLZ       Im	Series manager	Command Fi	le Measuring A	xes View	About plug-ir	l			
Image: None of the second s	🕺 💑 💑 🕅	🐹   🗅 🛩	🖬 🖻 🔹 🖓	- Y				Data OK	Run
Image: System SLL       10000,00         Main.dTimed       1000,00         Pohon.Ax1.A       0,00         InTNE121.P       0,00         0.00       0,00 <th>🏡 🛍  🔛</th> <th>]+] ]+   ≠</th> <th>1 🖊 💐</th> <th>🚑   i</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	🏡 🛍  🔛	]+] ]+   ≠	1 🖊 💐	🚑   i					
	System_S.L/           Main.dTime2           Pohon.Ax1.4           InTNE121.P           Ufiltr           InTNE121.A           r0_p1_6T.A;           Main.dpos           %s4           VelocAx1           Main.VelocA           Main.dTime3	10000,00 8000,00 6000,00 4000,00 2000,00 0,00 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (	1000,00 0,00 0,10 0,05 0,05 0,00 0,00 0,			.000 195,000 200,0	00 205,000 2	210,000 215	.000 220,00

14. Other tools for debugging and simulation

Fig. 87. Example of graph dependent on time

### 14.3 HMI text panel simulator

....

used for testing program equipment of operator panel even without connected HW panel. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is opened in a floating window. The window is preset according to the type of simulated panel. The window should always have the option "always on top" activated accessible via right-click on top window bar. The tool can be configured via right-click within window area. Details can be found in the document TXV 003 25.



Fig. 88. Display example of simulator panel ID-14

### 14.4 Panel (semi graphics)

Is used for semi graphical displaying of set variables in a program. It works as a simple visualization and is suitable for debugging algorithms during simulation. It is opened via the menu File | New | New panel. By default it is opened docked into the main panel on files with the suffix \*.PAM. The tool is present in the environment because of compatibility with older systems. The previously mentioned WebMaker with better graphics is intended for newer applications.

🛟 GT-7752_A	x1.pam				
🛷 🛛 Vzor	123	🔜   🐙 🧯	<b>! #   </b> @	6 ECD 👻	
GT-7752 Ax	<mark>Estop</mark> Kp +1	. 000000	Inkr+1	.000000	
<mark>SetConst</mark>	ERRAX Ø		Vmax+4	00000.0	
MC_Power	MC_Reset		Amax+2	000.000	
	\$45	662000	Drift	-60	
	Pozice+ <mark>36</mark>	82.000	DeadP	9	
MC_StPos	Veloc -10	82130432	DeadN	0	
			Pos+5	000000.	
GT_JOG Po	s Home +20	.000000000	)	.0000	
Ne	g		LimP+5	000000.	
MC_Relat	Cíl+10	000.00	LimN-5	000000.	
	Vel+10	00.000			
MC_Stop	Acc+10	0.0000			
	Dcc+10	0.0000			
DebDrift	Jerk+0.	000000			
Sinfo					
200pt1+3	641.500 1	164154880			
220pt2+3	641.500				
10:4	Debug	39 objektů	FBD.str2		11.

Fig. 89. Example of variables display in a so called panel

#### 14.5 Map of user registers

Shows the occupation of %R in a PLC and enables checking for possible overlapped variable definitions. It is opened by clicking on its icon and by default it is opened in a floating window.

🛟 Use	er registers map				<u>-     ×</u>
Filter		Type		mment	
Name		Туре	🛆 Beginning	End Com	ment
ð	Panel0_UserKeyb	ARRAY [00] OF USINT	%R0	???	
	- free space -		%R0	%R0	
	myFCE	BOOL	%R1	%R1	
	iTestCFC	TestCFC	%R2	%R6	
	Main	prgMain	%R7	%R136	
	- free space -		%R137	%R499	
	- free space -		%R137	%R539	
ø	Panel0_VideoRAM	ARRAY [031] OF USINT	%R500	???	
reg	Panel0_NumText	word	%R540	%R541	
reg	Panel0_MinText	word	%R542	%R543	
reg	Panel0_MaxText	word	%R544	%R545	
reg	Panel0_EnableBits	byte	%R546	%R546	
reg	Panel0_SizeDisp	byte	%R547	%R547	
reg	Panel0_KeybTer	byte	%R548	%R548	
reg	Panel0_InterTer	byte[32]	%R549	%R580	
reg	Panel0_SIMKey	byte	%R581	%R581	
reg	Panel0_KeybPT	byte	%R582	%R582	
	- free space -		%R583	%R40955	
Ove	erlaid variables	Overlaid #def 💦 🚺 Free	space		

14. Other tools for debugging and simulation

#### Fig. 90. Map of user registers

By clicking on individual items in the column heads, it is possible to sort out information in the table according to the columns.

It is possible to use filtration for the displayed list according to name, type and note.

## **14.6 Windows of the bottom docking panel**

The windows of the following tools are opened in the bottom docking panel

Messages 1 Messages 2 Symbols Breakpoint list Watch

#### 14.6.1 Message 1 and Message 2 windows

Displays the announcements of the compiler, search reports, tracking reports, etc. Leftclick on a displayed message will send the cursor to the line in the editor regarding that message which makes corrections and debugging much easier. The tool is opened from the tab or menu "View | Other windows". By default they are docked into the bottom panel.

#### 14.6.2 Symbols window

Displays symbolic names used in program after compilation. Left-click on item in the editor will send the cursor to the definition of the symbol. The tool is opened from the tab or menu "View | Symbols". By default they are docked into the bottom panel.

#### 14.6.3 List of breakpoints window

Displays a list of breakpoints inserted into the program by the user during debugging. Left-click on an item will display a dialog window for setting up the conditions of the breakpoint. The tool is opened from the tab or menu "View | Breakpoint list". By default they are docked into the bottom panel.

Messages 1 Messages 2 Symbols E	reakpoint list}	Watch				
Filename/Address	Ctx Line/	Length	Condition	Action	Pass count	Group
C:\TECOAPP\SKUPINAPLC\PLC_L	. × 20			Trace&Run	0	
E C:\TECOAPP\SKUPINAPLC\PLC L.	. * 21			Trace&Run	0	
1						

#### Fig. 91. List of used breakpoints

Double-click on marked line will open a window with for setting conditions for laying breakpoints into the program.

Break conditions: Main.TestFBD1.myFB1		×
<ul> <li>✓ Trap enabled</li> <li>✓ Use stack context</li> </ul>	Actions Trace & Run Step Trace & Step	<ul> <li>Trace to subroutines</li> <li>Trace until return</li> <li>Generate trace list</li> </ul>
Break condition		Detail list (instruction level)
Lay traps		
	0 <u>K</u> Cancel	<u>R</u> estore

Fig. 92. Conditions for laying breakpoints

#### 14.6.4 Data window

Displays data of user selected variables for monitoring their state and values during debugging.

Variables may be added in the window – data help

- Via dialog through button Add data item,
- Hotkey (Ctrl+F5) if context is on the name of the variable.
- Transfer of variables from IEC manager, from the configuration window, drag and drop of instance.

Double-click on a variable shows a dialog window with display conditions of the

respective data item. Items can be grouped into more groups so called banks. The selection of items into banks is done via the button

- $\circ$  add item from local toolbar
- o dragging and dropping from IEC manager tree.

Order of items can be changed via arrows from the local toolbar. Tools are opened by clicking onto their tab or via menu "View|Data". By default the window is opened docked into the bottom panel.

It is possible to preview simple variables in the data window, even if organized in structures and fields..

Messages 1 Messages 2	Symbols	Breakpoint lis	t W	atch	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	
🐤 🔲 Banka1		-	(Î	1	₽6	50	5		õõ	~	<b>9</b>		*	010 101	•
Name	Туре	Value	1.	2.											
Main.SB1	🗌 bool	0													-
Main.SB2	bool	0													
Main.aktTim	🗌 time	T# 00d0	OhO	OmO1	00	0s									
															•

#### Fig. 93. Data window

- 1. Shifts selected item up
- 2. Shifts selected item down
- 3. Creates new data bank
- 4. Clone data bank
- 5. Rename data bank
- 6. Cancel data bank
- 7. Add item for monitoring
- 8. Edit data item
- 9. Cancel data item
- 10. Change variable value
- 11. Set default display of variable
- 12. Locate itself into the memory window onto an absolute address of a selected variable

#### 14.7 Accumulator and memory windows

The Accumulator and Memory windows can be used for monitoring a running program mainly if written in the native mnemocode language. These windows can be controlled e.g. via right-click on window area. Then a local menu appears with the current offer for the respective window.

#### Accumulator window

- Displays accumulator data in a PLC for monitoring during debugging in mnemonic code (\*.mos). If the program is written in a language according to IEC61131-3 then monitoring the state of accumulators practically has no meaning.
- Right-click displays a dialog window for setting the format of the respective item. The tool is opened via tab or menu "View | Accumulators". By default the window is docked into the right panel.

				⊐⊻
S0=   OC	00_00	00		
lmm =	= \$00	000		
AO: \$	=0000		0	
Al: \$	=0000		0	
A2: \$	=0000		0	
A3: \$	= 0000		0	
A4: 9	= 0000		0	
AD: 9	-0000=		0	
A7: \$	-0000		0	
	0000		Ŭ	
				∃⊠
R	Byte	RO		
RO	00 0	0 00	00	
R4	00 0	0 00	00	
R8	00 0	0 00	00	
R12	00 0	0 00	00	
R16	00 0	0 00	00	
R20	00 0	0 00	00	
R24	00 0	0 00	00	
R28	<u> </u>	n nn	nn	┚
	(	-		⊒⊠
D-Box	Word	0		
•				
0	0000	0000	)	
4	0000	0000	)	

#### Memory 1 and Memory 2 panels

- Displays data on absolute addresses of PLC memory registers for monitoring the state of variables during debugging.
- Right-click displays a dialog window for setting the format of the respective item. The contents of the selected item can be changed using the keyboard and confirming the change using Enter. For quick editing of the settings, buttons are situated at the top of the window and after clicking on the window *Selected memory* a dialog window for the selection of operands opens. The tool is opened via tab or menu "View | Memory". By default the window is docked into the right panel.

Fig. 94.Accumulators, Memory 1 and Memory 2 windows

## 15. WORKING WITH PROJECTS AND PROJECT GROUPS

#### 15.1 Creating a new project group

Using the option *Project* | *New project group* we get to the following offer:

🛟 Create new project group		×
Project groups in directory:	My Computer W2K (C:) Documents and Settings MosaicArchive MosaicArchive MPEG Program Files DRIVERS UTILS WINNT DATA (D:)	
0 <u>K</u> Cancel	<u>R</u> efresh <u>H</u> ome	

#### Fig. 95. Create new project group

It is necessary to enter a name into the field "Name of new project group". In this case we used "boiler room".

After pressing OK a folder with the name "boiler room" along with a file is created. The name will be "boiler room.mpr".

### **15.2 Project group copying**

In case of needing to copy a whole group of projects, it is easiest to archive everything. (*File* | *Archiving* | *Archive current project groupe..*). When refreshing from archivation give the group a new name (*File* | *Archiving* | *Restore archived project groupe..*).

#### **15.3 Adding a new project**

Every project group in Mosaic may contain a arbitrary number of projects for every control system. Every project contains information about the configuration of the system and contents of files containing program for the system. Part of this information is also a setup serial channel for communication etc. Projects within one project group then can share declarations for network connections between control systems. This significantly limits the possibility of making a mistake during configuration and programming data changes between control systems.

### 15.4 Adding another project

This chapter describes the manner of adding a new project. A new project can be added e.g. from the menu Project | New project as shown on the following picture.

A dialog window for adding a name of the new project will open. By default the names Plc1, Plc2, etc. are offered. For your own orientation, it is better to create your own names so that the names do not cover the names of other projects. Mistakes can be eliminated in future changes.

## 15.5 Project copying

View Project Program PLC Debug Tools Help 🍪 📇 0:Halt 94 ms 📑 🨼 Project Manager Ctrl+Alt+F11 | 🖪 | 🔲 🔲 🖪 🔲 🗐 🚓 🛛 n Project main file 3\* PLC\_LOADER1.ST 4: TestFBD.FBD 5: myFB.ST 📑 New project group... ᡰ₩()()()()()()() +>> <>> II 🔃 💥 Open project group... Ctrl+F11 :ks 🖪 Projects list... Shift+Ctrl+F12 📑 New project... NPUT 💣 Add existing project... SB3 SB15 **UTPU1** 📉 Remove project from group... ╢ 44 SB1 Close project łŀ 🚰 Copy project... SB5 SB2 ł۲ 1/1 📮 Project files list... Ctrl+F12 🗳 Add file to project... 耳 Remove file from project... SB1 SB2 SB3 SB6 I I LЛ ĿЛ 1.1

In the main pull-down menu choose the option "Copy project".

#### Fig. 96. Copy project

A dialog box is opened for entering a name for the new project. By default this project is saved into the current project group. It is possible to choose a different project group in the dialog, to which the project will be copied to.

# 16. ARCHIVING

🛟 Mosaic - C:\TecoApp\SkupinaPLC.mpr	: Plc1
🦻 File Edit Search View Project Pro	ogram PLC Debug Tools Help 0:Ha
New 🕨	🖵   🔜   💿 💿     🔌 🛛 🖪   🔲
🗊 🕻 😅 Open Ctrl+O	1: prgMain.ST   2: PLC1.ST   3: FB.st   4:
👝 🖆 Open project group Ctrl+F11	9 💌   📐 -
Reopen	
Proje 🥵 Archiving 🔹 🕨	Archive current project group
Proje	Restore archived project group
Prote PRO D save	PIZ <-> ZIP conversion
Prote Save as	PLC Memory archive
PZR G Save all	Restore PLC memory
PZR Baw Zavřítokno Alt+F4	Save project to PLC
Rec[ 🚉 Close all	Restore project from PLC
Reg. Validate file Shift+Ctrl+S	
Rela Rest Export source code to rtf	
RJ1 SPrint Ctrl+P	11
Rus_ Lunch Break	11
Rus_ Rus_Exit	11
1 -	

Fig. 97. Archiving menu

## **16.1** Archiving project groups

## **16.2 Archiving data from PLC**

- 16.2.1 Archiving data from PLC DataBoxes
- 16.2.2 Archiving registers from PLC notebook memories

## **17. Documentation printing**

Currently, only text parts of source codes from projects can be printed.

## **18. APPENDIXES**

## 18.1 Hotkeys

Mosaic enables using hotkeys for standard activities. The hotkeys follow:

Ge<u>neral:</u>

F1	Shows context help for cursor position
Ctrl+F11	Opens project group
Ctrl+N	Creates new document
Ctrl+O / F3	Opens existing document
Ctrl+F4	Closes existing document
Alt+F4	Closes undocked window
Ctrl+F4 / Alt+F4	Closes docked window
Ctrl+S / F2	Save active document
Shift+F12	List of open editor windows
Alt+1 to Alt+9	Direct access to windows 1-9
F6	Next active editor
Shift+F6	Previous active editor
Ctrl+Tab	Next docked window in panel
Shift+Ctrl+Tab	Previous docked window in panel
Ctrl+F12	List of project files
Shift+Ctrl+F12	List of projects in group

#### PLC controls:

Alt+F2	Connect / disconnect communication with PLC
Ctrl+F2	Halt PLC
Ctrl+F9	Run PLC
F9	Compile project
Shift+F9	Send code to PLC
Alt+F6	Debugging switched ON/OFF
Ctrl+F5	Calculate/set variable
Ctrl+F7	Add item to data window

#### Text editor window:

Ctrl+P	Print active document
Ctrl+X / Shift+Del	Cut text from document into clipboard
Ctrl+C / Ctrl+Ins	Copy text from document into clipboard
Ctrl+V / Shift+Ins	Insert from clipboard into active document
Ctrl+A	Select all text in active document
Ctrl+B	Select text block active document
Ctrl+Z /	Back previous event, if possible
Alt+BackSpace	
Shift+Ctrl+Z /	Returns previous event if possible
Shift+Alt+BackSpace	
Del / Ctrl+Del	Delete text from document
Shift+Ctrl+0 to 9	Set breakpoint in text 0-9
Ctrl+0 az 9	Jump to breakpoint in text 0-9
Shift+Ctrl+M	Column block highlighting function switched on
Shift+Ctrl+N	Column block highlighting function switched off
Tab	Insert tab (works also for marked block line)
Shift+Tab	Cut tab (works also for marked block line)

#### Find and replace:

Ctrl+F	Find in active document
Ctrl+R	Replace in active document

## Getting started with Mosaic

Ctrl+L	Repeat last search / replacement in active document
Ctrl+G	Go to line in active document
Shift+F3	Find in all documents
Shift+Alt+F3	Find in all documents as output (for*.MOS and *.MAS)

#### IEC assistant:

Ctrl+D	Define variable in IEC
Shift+Ctrl+V	Insert an already defined variable
Ctrl+I	Look for variable in IEC manager
Ctrl+J	IEC assistant
Ctrl+Space	Fill in IEC code

#### IEC manager window:

Alt+Enter	Features
Ctrl+A	Go to original (to variables for alias)
Ctrl+C	Сору
Ctrl+F	Find
Ctrl+I	Go to item text representation
Ctrl+L	Look further
Ctrl+T	Go to definition type
Shift+Ctrl+I	Go to instances (available only for POU and user types)
Insert	Add POU/task
Shift+Insert	Add variable /program instance
Delete	Delete item

#### Message context:

Alt+F7	Context to previous event from message window
Alt+F8	Context to next event from message window

#### Tool window controls:

Alt+0	List of open windows
Ctrl+F12	List of files in project
Ctrl+Alt+F11	Project manager
Ctrl+Alt+M	Message window
Ctrl+Alt+W	Data window
Ctrl+Alt+Y	Memory window
Ctrl+Alt+A	Accumulator window
Ctrl+Alt+S	Symbols window
Ctrl+Alt+B	Breakpoints list window
Ctrl+M	Map of registers

#### Docking panel controls:

F5	Maximize / Refresh main docking panel
Ctrl+Alt+Left	Show / Hide left docking panel
Ctrl+Alt+Right	Show / Hide right docking panel
Ctrl+Alt+Down	Show / Hide bottom docking panel